AUSTRALAND PROPERTY GROUP

ASX ANNOUNCEMENT

29 April 2004

PRoDUCT DISCLOSURE STATEMENT AND PROSPECTUS -
NON-RENOUNCEABLE ENTITLEMENT OFFER AND INSTITUTIONAL PLACEMENT

The attached Product Disclosure Statement and Prospectus issued in connection with a non-
renounceable entitlement offer and institutional placement of stapled securities in Australand
Property Group has been lodged today with the Australian Securities and Investments
Commission.

A copy may be located on the Company’s website at: www augiraland.con.au.

For further information, please contact:

Phil Mackey
Company Secretary
Tel: +61 2 9767 2182

AUSTRALAND HOLDINGS LIMITED ABN 12 008 443 696
AUSTRALAND PROPERTY TRUST ARSN 106 680 424

REGISTERED OFFICE: LEVEL 3, 1C¢ HOMEBUSH BAY DRIVE, RHODES NSW 2138
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29 April 2004

Dear Securityholder

AUSTRALAND PROPERTY GROUP CAPITAL RAISING

On behalf of Australand Property Group | am pleased to provide you with the details of an oppoertunity to increase
your holding of Stapled Securities in Australand Property Group by participating in & non-renounceable 1 for 7
Entitlement Offer. This Offer Document also applies to an Institutional Placement {o raise approximately

$25 million from the issue of 15.4 million New Stapled Securities at the same price as under the Entitlement Offer.

Under the Capital Raising, New Stapled Securities will be issued at the Application Price of $1.63. The New
Stapled Securities will be entitled o the full distribution for the guarter ending 30 June 2004, forecast to be 4
cents per Stapled Security and expected {o be paid on 3 August 2004, The forecast Distribution for Australand
Property Group for the year ending 31 December 2004 is approximately 16.5 cents per Stapled Security.
Based on the Application Price of $1.63, the annualised yield on New Stapled Securities for the year ending 31
December 2004 is forecast to be 10.1%.

The Capital Raising, in aggregate, will raise approximately $188.6 million. The proceeds of the Capital Raising are
intended to be used to fund the acquisition of units in AWPT3 and fo reduce the level of gearing.

Australand Property Group’s medium term strategy is to reduce its dependence on development earmings and
increase the level of recurrent income from income producing properties so that they are broadly equivalent by
2007,

Under the Entitlement Offer, Qualifying Securityholders are entitled to subscribe for 1 New Stapled Security for
every 7 Stapled Securities held on the Record Date at the Application Price.

CapitaLand Limited, which through its controlled entities, owns approximately 58% of the issued capital of
Australand Property Group, has agreed to subscribe for its full Entitlement. The remainder of the Capital Raising
is underwritten by Goldman Sachs JBWere Pty Lid and UBS AG, Australia Branch. By not participating in the
Institutional Placement, Capital and Limited's holding will be reduced to approximately 56.9% which will deliver a
commensurate increase in Australand Property Group’s free float market capitalisation.

This Offer Document contains important information about the Capital Raising. | recommend that you read it in
its entirety. If you are in doubt as to the course of action you should follow, you may wish to discuss the Capital
Raising with your accountant, stockbroker, lawyer or other professicnal adviser.

The directors of Australand Property Group are unanimeus in cemmending this Capital Raising to you.

Yours sincerely

T '
|tii'..m-Lt-u-[ 53'-:_1:5"
Tham Kui Seng

Chairman

AUSTRALAND HOLDINGS LIMITED ABN 12 008 443 696
AUSTRALAND PROPERTY TRUST ARSN 106 680 424

REGISTERED OFFICE: LEVEL 3, 1C HOMEBUSH BAY DRIVE, RHODES NSW 2138
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= Australand Holdings Limited and Australan
entity of Australand Property Trust.
What is the Capiial Raising? 1.2
* The Capital Raising comprises the Entitlement Offer and the Institutional
Placement, to raise in aggregate, approximately $188.5 million.

-2

red
o

Who will rocsive an Soetitiorsend

* Qualifying Securityholders who are registered Securityholders as at 7.00pm
(Sydney time) on the Record Date and who have registered addresses in Australia,
Singapore or New Zealand will receive an Entitlement Offer.
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s Entiflemant Oar?
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* Your Entitlement is an allocation of 1 New Stapled Security for every 7 Stapled
Securities you hold on the Record Date and is non-renounceable (that is, your
Entitlement is not transferable and cannot be sold). You may accept all, part
or none of your Entitlement.

* The Application Price per New Stapled Security is $1.63.

* The Entitlement Offer consists of two components - the Institutional Entitement
Offer and the Retail Entitlement Offer.

* The Entitlement Offer is expected to raise approximately $163.4 million,

* The Institutional Entittement Offer and the Retail Entitement Offer are scheduled
to open on 29 April 2004 (the Issuers, in consultation with the Underwriters, may
extend the Institutional Entitlement Offer and the Retail Entitlement Offer periods).

e,
o

Whisy weill e Now Blapied Seoweiiios be allofad?

* Qualifying Retail Securityholders may choose whether o receive New Stapled
Securities on the Initial Alletment Date (ie at the same time as Qualifying
Institutional Securityholders) or on the Final Allotment Date.

Qualifying Retail Securityholders who apply for New Stapled Securities by

12 May 2004 will be allotted New Stapled Securities on the Initial Allotment Date.
Qualifying Retail Securityholders whe apply for New Stapled Securities after

12 May 2004 but before the Closing Date will be allotted New Stapled Securities
on the Final Allotment Date.

* The New Stapled Securities to be issued under the Capital Raising will rank
equally with all other Stapled Securities on issue in all respects (e.g. Distributions,
voting rights and entitlement to further issues of Stapled Securities) from the
date of allotment of the New Stapled Securities.

Qualifying Institutional Securityholders and other institutional and sophisticated
investors who apply for New Stapled Securities will be allotted New Stapled Securities
on the Initial Allotment Date.

What s the Insiiutions? Flacorment? ¥4
* A placement of 15.4 million New Stapled Securities to raise approximately $25.1 million.
This placement will be made to institutional investors, both in Australia and overseas,
and is fully underwritten by the Underwriters.
= The Institutional Placement is scheduled to cccur on 29 April 2004,
* The New Stapled Securities offered under the Institutional Placement will be issued
at the same Application Price as the New Stapled Securities to be issued under
the Entitlement Offer.



. Oppor‘tumty to purchas N Stapled Securities in Australand Property Group
at a 7.9% discount to the closing price of Stapled Securities on 28 April 2004
and without brokerage.

= New Stapled Securities will be entitled to a full Distribution for the quarter ending
30 June 2004, forecast to be 4 cents per New Stapled Security and expected to
be paid on 3 August 2004,

= A forecast Distribution for Australand Property Group for the year ending
31 December 2004 of 16.5 cents per Stapled Security and, based on the
Application Price of $1.63, a forecast annualised yield of 10.1%.

* An increase in the free float market capitalisation of Australand Property Group,
which is expected to increase trading liquidity.

* Increased NTA from $1.36 prior to the Capital Raising to $1.39 following
completion of the Capital Raising.

. Oua\lfymg Securityholders and other mstltutlona\ or sophisticated investors who
elect to participate in the Capital Raising must pay the Application Price of $1.63
per New Stapled Security.

* The fees and costs
payable by the Issuers

= If you are an Au tralwaﬂ remdeﬂt you will be taxable:
- on your share of the net (taxable) income of Australand Property Trust;
- on the amount of any dividend received from Australand and any imputation
credits attached to the dividend; and
- on any gain arising from the disposal of the Stapled Securities.
= If you are not an Australian resident, you will be taxable:
- on your share of the net (taxable) income of Australand Property Trust to the
extent that it is attributable to sources in Australia; and
- depending on your particular circumstances, on any gain arising from the disposal
of the Stapled Securities.

= The Responsible Entity will not take account of labour standards, social or ethical

considerations in selecting, retaining or realising investments for Australand Property Trust.

= Environmental issues only as they relate to whether the land on which a prospective
investment is located is contaminated, will be taken into account

W he Acguisiinn Praposad
The Acquisition Proposal is comdltwona\, mcludmg approva\ by the AWPT3 Unitholders.

* In the event that the Acquisition Proposal does not proceed, the proceeds of the Capital
Raising will be used by the Issuers in the manner set out in Section 1.6.2.

* For investment advice in relation to the Capital Raising - speak to your accountant,
stockbroker, lawyer or other professional adviser.

= For any other guestions in relation to the Capital Raising - call Australand Property
Group’s Company Secretary on +61 2 9767 2000.

AUSTRALANDG PRGPERTY QHOUIY PRODUCT DISCLOSURE STATEMENT AND PROSPECTUS
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The Issuers propose to issue approximately 118.7 million New Stapled Securities at the Application Price 1o raise
approximately $188.5 million. The Capital Raising is structured in two parts - an Entitlement Offer and an Institutional
Flacement.

All New Stapled Securities will be issued under this Offer Document.

Under the Entitlement Offer, the Issuers propose to issue approximately 100.3 million New Stapled Securities at the
Application Price to raise approximately $163.4 million. Securityholders who are residents of Australia, Singapore or New
Zealand will receive an Entitlement Offer to acquire 1 New Stapled Security for every 7 Stapled Securities held on the
Record Date. The Application Price of $1.63 per New Stapled Security is payable in full at the time of Application.

Securityholders registered at 7.00pm (Sydney time) on the Record Date with registered addresses in Australia,
Singapore or New Zealand have a pro rata Entitlement based on the number of Stapled Securities they hold at that time.
In caleulating Entitlements, fractional Entitements have been rounded up to the nearest whole New Stapled Security.

Your Entitlement is non-renounceable which means it cannot be transferred or sold.

In order for Qualifying Retail Securityholders to ensure that they receive their Entitlement, Applications must be made on
the personalised Application Form accompanying this Offer Document.

The Entitlement Offer is structured as follows:
= Institutional Entitlement Offer; and
= Retail Entitlement Offer.

The Issuers reserve the right to withdraw or alter the timetable for the Entitlement Offer without prior notice, subject to
the Corporations Act and Listing Rules.

AR IRSATITEITIONAI A D RMTITI RASRANY SImmTDy
LAY INSTITUTIONAL BENTITLEMENT QFFER

Under the Institutional Entitlement Offer, Qualifying Institutional Securityholders will be made offers te apply for their pro
rata Entitlement on 29 April 2004,

New Stapled Securities not taken up by Qualifying Institutional Securityholders will be offered to:
= other Qualifying Institutional Securityholders; or
= other institutional investors in Australia and overseas.

New Stapled Securities will be allotted to these investors on the Initial Allotment Date.

To the extent that a Qualifying Institutional Securityholder has not received an offer under the Institutional Entitlement
Offer on 29 April 2004, that Qualifying Institutional Securityholder may make an application for its Entitlement under the
Retail Entitlement Offer.

BT TR T o
14,3 RETAL ENTITL

The Retail Entitement Offer is available to Qualifying Securityhelders who have not received (directly or through
nominees) an offer under the Institutional Entitement Offer,

Under the Retail Entitlement Offer, you will receive an offer of your Entitlement as shown on the personalised Application
Form accompanying this Offer Document.

Qualifying Retail Securityholders may choose whether to be allotted New Stapled Securities on the Initial Allotment Date
or on the Final Allotment Date.

New Stapled Securities applied for by Qualifying Retail Securityhelders whose valid Applications are received before
12 May 2004, will be allotted the number of New Stapled Securities applied for up to their Entitlement on the Initial
Allotment Date (e at the same time as the allotment of New Stapled Securities to Qualifying Institutional Investors).

New Stapled Securities applied for by Qualifying Retail Securityholders whose valid Applications are received after 12
May 2004 and before the Closing Date will be allotted the number of New Stapled Securities applied for up to their
Entitlement on the Final Allotment Date.

N R RRECITITD IESNAE A IND O TR R A
1.4 INSTITUTIONAL PLATEMENT

%

The Issuers have engaged the Underwriters to conduct a placement of 15.4 million New Stapled Securities to
sophisticated investors, professicnal investors or other wholesale clients in Australia and overseas 1o raise approximately

AURTRAMAND PRGPERTY JHOWUE PRODUCT DISCLOSURE STATEMENT AND PROSPECTUS



$25.1 million. The New Stapled Securities issued with respect to the Institutional Placement are to be issued at the
same Application Price as those issued under the Entitlement Offer.

" - R SLA R A TN D D P AR S hate
T UNDERWRITING OF THE CaPiTAaL SN

CapitalLand, which through its controlled entities, owns approximately 58% of the issued capital of Australand
Property Group, has agreed fo subscribe for its Entitlement under the Institutional Entitlement Offer. The remainder
of the Entitlement Offer is underwritten by the Underwriters. The Institutional Placement is fully underwritten by the
Underwriters (see Section 6.5 for further details).

The purpose of the Capltal Raising is to:
* fund the consideration for the acquisition of AWPT3 Units under the Acquisition Proposal; and

* reduce the level of gearing.
A Hes of Qapifal Ralsing procaeds

1 below sets out the intended use of proceeds assuming that the Capital Raising is completed and all of the
nits are acquired by Australand Property Trust under the Acquisition Proposal:

— o

QN O

Institutional Placement $25.1m Acquisition of AWPT3 Units $97.8m
Entitlement Offer $163.4m Reduce the level of gearing $87.5m
Costs of Capital Raising $3.2m

$188.6m $1885m

Part of the Capital Raising proceeds will be used to reduce the level of gearing, which may include the repayment of
unsecured notes (currently due to mature on 30 June 2004). Australand Property Group is likely to restructure part of its
existing debt facilities to include capital markets debt, such as commercial meortgaged backed securities. The timing of any
restructure would depend on a number of factors including the capital market conditions in the future. The effect of any
restructure of the debt facilities should enable the weighted average interest rate for 2004 to be below that achieved in
2003,

§ - Yo e
.82 Acguisition Propess

Australand Property Trust intends to acquire all of the AWPT3 Units under the Acquisition Proposal.

The Acguisition Proposal is conditional upon:

* approval by AWPT3 Unitholders. That approval is to be sought at a meeting of AWPT3 Unitholders scheduled for 26
May 2004, It is anticipated that the acquisition of the AWPT3 Units will complete by 31 May 2004, but in any case, no
later than 30 June 2004. The directors of AWIL may elect fo terminate the transaction if the acquisition of the AWPT3
Units has not completed by 31 May 2004,

» consent from AWPT3's financiers; and
* various regulatory consents.

In the event that the Acquisition Proposal is not approved by the AWFT3 Unitholders:
* the proceeds from the Capital Raising will be used initially to further retire part of Australand Property Group’s debt; and

* Australand Property Trust may make an offer to individual AWFT3 Unitholders under similar terms to the Acquisition
Proposal thereby increasing its stake in AWPT3.

g

.7 PORECASBT FINANCIAL RIPACT OF JAPTAL RAISING ARD ATCGHNBITION PROPOSAL

The forecast financial impact of the Capital Raising and Acquisition Proposal on Australand Property Group for the year
ending 31 December 2004 is summarised below. The financial impact of the Capital Raising and Acquisition Proposal,
together with the assumptions underlying the forecast financial information, are discussed in detail in Section 3 of this

Offer Document.

Net profit after tax ($'000's) 95,206 135210 143575
Eamings per Stapled Security (cents) 17.1 19.1 183
Distribution per Stapled Security (cents) 134 165 165

The forecast earnings per Stapled Security for the year ending 31 December 2004 is higher in the APG Standalone
Forecast than in the forecast contained in the 2003 APG Offer Document. This is because fewer Stapled Securities
were taken up by AWPT and AWPT2 unitholders as consideration for the acquisition of their units by Australand Property
Trust than had been assumed and consequently less debt was repaid than was forecast.



Net assets ($000's) 994,808 1,198518
NTA per Stapled Security! $1.36 $1.39
NOTES:

1 Net tangible assets attributakle to Australand Properly Group.

The size of the Capital Raising has been established to enable Australand Property Group to achieve the level of gearing
set out in the 2003 APG Offer Document. As a result, the EPS and DPS in the APG Combined Forecast are lower than
in the APG Standalone Forecast, although they are broadly in line with the EPS and DPS envisaged at the time of the
2003 APG Offer Document.

T8 RIGHTES ATTATHING TO NEW STARPLED SEQURTIES

The New Stapled Securities issued under the Capital Raising will rank equelly with all other Stapled Securities on issue
in all respects from the date of allotment of the New Stapled Securities.

Securityholders as set out below.
1A Dwersification of hoome
The acquisition of AWPT3 further diversifies Australand Property Group's earnings by increasing the proportion of

Australand Property Group’s earnings derived from recurrent investment income. The effect of the inclusion of the
AWPT3 property portfolic on the earnings composition of Australand Property Group is illustrated by the following charts.

3 Edesrraawrine Dleeveian e Bieieaieaad & T e O e TP
g Properiy Sroup's Forscast dnnuatised Sarnings Composition

e DapiRal Raiving amd Scguisiion Frapmmal Fand Copiial Daining ang Aogdsiiias Propuss

Hl Investment Trust 31%
¥a¥ Development Company 69%

W Investment Trust 35%
3 Development Company 66%

Assuming the Capital Raising and Acquisition Proposal preceed, the proportion of recurrent investment income on an
annualised basis will increase from 31% 1o 35%. This is based on annualising the forecast eamings after tax and inter-
stapled entity interest and fees for the year ending 31 December 2004, as if the transaction occurred on 1 January 2004,

It is proposed that Australand Property Group will further increase the proportion of recurrent investment income over
time through the acquisition of additional income producing assets. A reduced reliance on property development earnings
is expected 1o result over time in a favourable price re-rating of Australand Property Group as a result of a reduction in
its perceived risk profile.

AURTRAMAND PRGPERTY JHOWUE PRODUCT DISCLOSURE STATEMENT AND PROSPECTUS



A2 norasse n fres Hoal market sapialisstion

The issue of New Stapled Securities under the Capital Raising will result in a 19% increase in the free float market
capitalisation of Australand Property Group, from approximately $522 million to approximately $623 million based on the
closing price of Stapled Securities on 28 April 2004. It is reasonable to expect that the expansion of free float market
capitalisation will enhance liquidity and investor interest.

Sraem Ploai Market Qaplsisatian
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Post Capital Raising //
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Pre Cepital Raising

183 Raduced geaving

The Gearing level after the Capital Raising and Acguisition Proposal is forecast to be approximately 46.5% compared
to Australand Property Group’s Gearing at 31 December 2003 of 51.0%. This reduced Gearing will strengthen the
statement of financial position and provide funding flexibility going forward. During the forecast period, Australand
Property Group intends to maintain Gearing at pre forma levels.

A comparison of historical Gearing and pro forma Gearing for Australand Property Group after the Capital Raising and
Acguisition Proposal is set out below:

AP COMEHNG

CIZARING MEABLINN

Gearing 51.0% 46.5%
Interest bearing debt to tangible assets 30.7% 28.9%

It is expected that Australand Property Group’s cost of capital will reduce over time, providing Australand Property Group with
more competitive capital sources to fund future business growth. The cost of capital benefits are expected to result from:
* the potential equity price re-rating assuming Australand Property Group continues to acquire further income preducing
assets and further reduce its perceived earnings risk profile; and
* a reduction in the cost of debt funding due to:
- reduced potential earnings volatility through inclusion of further recurrent investment income; and
— the ability to secure debt financing against the assets of Australand Property Trust.

T T R L . P A P S
LAY Increasad el langible asveiy backiag

The Capital Raising will result in an increase in the net tangible asset backing per Stapled Security from $1.36 to $1.39.

ol
o

& FNEa e i aTE e
SRS sl NS

The New Stapled Securities will be entitled to receive the full Distribution for the quarter ending 30 June 2004, forecast
to be 4 cents per Stapled Security to be paid on 3 August 2004.

The forecast Distribution for Australand Property Group for the year ending 31 December 2004 is 16.5 cents per
Stapled Security. Based on the Application Price of $1.63, the annualised yield on New Stapled Securities for the year
ending 31 December 2004 is forecast to be 10.1%.

Assuming the Capital Raising and the Acquisition Proposal occur, it is expected that the forecast dividends paid out
of Australand (forecast to be approximately 62% of Australand Property Group's Distribution for the year ending 31
December 2004) will be fully franked and that the forecast distribution from Australand Property Trust (forecast to be
approximately 38% of Australand Property Group’s Distribution for the year ending 31 December 2004) will contain a
tax deferred component of approximately 31%.
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TAT Properiy porifolis snhanesmeant
AWPT3 comprises a portfolio of eight recently developed commercial and industrial properties across three states with a
value of approximately $220 million (based on valuations at 31 May 2004). When combined with the existing Australand
Property Trust property portfolie, the portfolio will consist of 26 commercial and industrial properties incorporating

approximately 360,000m? of net lettable area and a combined value of approximately $595 million.

The addition of the AWPT3 property portfolio to the existing Australand Property Trust portfolio will enhance the overall
portfolic dynamics in a number of ways, including extending the weighted average |lease expiry, decreasing the weighted
average capitalisation rate and by reducing the exposure to any one tenant within the portfolio.

The benefits of the addition of AWFT3 properties to the Australand Property Trust are detailed in Section 2.6.

1
LY Eeiitionss
Securityholders with registered addresses in Australia, Singapore or New Zealand at 7.00pm (Sydney time) on the
Record Date will be offered New Stapled Securities in the ratio of 1 Mew Stapled Security for every 7 Stapled Securities

held at the Application Price.

The Entitlement is shown on the personalised Application Form accompanying this Offer Document. In calculating
Entitlements, fractional Entitlements have been rounded up to the nearest whole Stapled Security.

The Entitlement Offer is non-renounceable which means the Entitlement is not transferable and cannot be sold. The
Capital Raising, except for the Capitaland entitlement, will be underwritten by the Underwriters. A summary of the
Underwriting Agreement appears in Section 6.5.

T % AN e E Ty T 3 YAy an o AN
LHLE Avcepiance and paymant

If you want to accept your Entitement, complete the personalised Application Form accompanying this Offer Document
in accordance with the instructions set out on the reverse side of the form.

If you wish to apply for only part of your Entitlement, you should complete the personalised Application Form
accompanying this Offer Document, nominating the number of New Stapled Securities you wish to apply for, with
peyment in full.

TOHES I pou wish o have pour New Stepled Seourities atioosiod for sarly rading on ARX and BEX
Qualifying Retail Securityholders have the opportunity to apply for their Entitiement no later than 500pm (Sydney
time) on 12 May 2004, in order to participate in the Initial Allocation. New Stapled Securities allotted under the Initial

Allocation are expected to commence trading on ASX and SGX by 18 May 2004,

The closing time and date for receiving final Applications is 5.00pm (Sydney time) 256 May 2004. The Application Forms
must be received by the Registry by this time, even if lodged through a stockbroker or adviser.

LIS Payment
Application Forms must be completed in accordance with the instructions outlined on the reverse side of the Application Form,

All Applications must be accompanied by a cheque, money order or bank draft (calculated by multiplying the number

of New Stapled Securities you applied for by the Application Price). If you do not indicate the number of New Stapled
Securities for which you wish to subscribe, or there is a discrepancy between the amount of the cheque, money order or
bank draft and the number of New Stapled Securities indicated, you will be treated as applying for as many New Stapled
Securities as your cheque, money order or bank draft will pay for at the Application Price up to your Entitlement.

Payment will only be accepted in Australian currency and cheques or bank drafts must be drawn on or payable at

an Australian bank. Cheques, money orders and bank drafts should be made payable to "Australand Property Group

- Applications Account” and crossed "Not Negotiable®. All amounts must be in cleared funds. Please do not send cash.
Receipts for payment will not be issued.

S A N SESE IO AYIOTED AT RIS & NG IRE SRRy
Y APPLHTATION MORIES ANDG IRTERESY

Monies received from an Applicant for an Application will, until those New Stapled Securities are issued, be held by the
Issuers in a trust account.

To the extent that any Application is not satisfied in whole, Application Monies will be refunded without interest.

If you are allotted less than the number of New Stapled Securities you applied for, you will receive a refund cheque for
the relevant amount of Application Monies (without interest) not applied towards the issue of New Stapled Securities, as
soon as practicable after the Closing Date.

The Issuers reserve the right to cancel the Capital Raising at any time, in which case all Application Monies for unissued
New Stapled Securities will be refunded without interest.

AURTRAMAND PRGPERTY JHOWUE PRODUCT DISCLOSURE STATEMENT AND PROSPECTUS



To the fullest extent permitted by law, each Qualifying Securityholder agrees that such Application Monies shall not bear
or earn interest for the Applicant, irrespective of whether or not all or any of the New Stapled Securities applied for by
the Applicant are issued to the Applicant.

133 ALLQUATION POLIY

All Qualifying Securityholders are permitted to receive their Entitlement. The Issuers and the Underwriters may allocate
any shortfall under the Entitlement Offer to institutional and other sophisticated investors as appropriate.

LAY ALLOTMENTY

Allotment of New Stapled Securities is expected on or around 17 May 2004 or 4 June 2004 depending on whether the
Application is dealt with under the Initial Allocation or the Final Allocation (as described in Section 1.3).

No certificates will be issued in respect of the New Stapled Securities. Following allotment, Securityholders will receive
statements that set out the number of New Stapled Securities allotted to them.

TS QUOTATION OF NEW STAPLED SECURMT

”4
4

BN ON ASN P
IR ON ASY AND 8GX

,

The Issuers will apply, within seven days of the date of this Offer Document, for quotation of the New Stapled Securities
on ASX and SGX. If quotation on ASX is not granted within the peried prescribed by the Corporations Act, New Stapled
Securities will not be allotted and all application monies received under this Offer Document will be refunded in full to
applicants without interest.

TS FOREIGN SEQURITYHOLGERS
This Offer Document is being sent to Securityholders with registered addresses in Australia, Singapore or New Zealand

only. Securityholders with registered addresses outside these countries (*Foreign Securityholder”) are not eligible to
participate in the Entitlement Offer.

It is impractical and unreasonable for the Issuers to comply with the potential securities law requirements of every
jurisdiction in which a Securityholder might be located having regard to the number and value of Stapled Securities that
would be offered and the legal and cost considerations.

Each Foreign Securityholder will be notified in writing of the above arrangements in accordance with the Listing Rules.

The distribution of this Offer Document in jurisdictions outside Australia, Singapore or New Zealand may be restricted
by law and therefore persons who come into possession of this Offer Document should seek advice on and observe

any such restrictions. Any failure to comply with such restrictions may constitute a violation of applicable securities laws.
This Offer Document does not constitute an offer or invitation in any jurisdiction in which, or to any person to whom,

it would not be lawful to make such an offer or an invitation. No action has been taken {o register or qualify the New
Stapled Securities or the Entitlement Offer, or otherwise to permit a public offering of the New Stapled Securities, in any
jurisdiction outside Australia, Singapore or New Zealand.

Sheuld this Offer Document and the accompanying Application Form constitute an offer in any jurisdiction in which,
or fo any person to whom, it would be unlawful to make such an offer, then this Offer Document and accompanying
Application Form are deemed not to constitute an offer.

Notwithstanding the above, the Issuers and the Underwriters reserve the right to offer New Stapled Securities under
the Institutional Placement, or in placing any shortfall under the Institutional Entitlement Offer to an institutional or
sophisticated investor cutside Australia, Singapore or New Zealand where to do so would not cause any breach of the
securities law requirements of the relevant jurisdiction.

18 QOLING OFF
There is no cooling off period for investors in Australand Property Group. Once you have submitted a completed

Application Form, you are not able to withdraw. However, you can offer your New Stapled Securities for sale on ASX or
SGX as soon as the New Stapled Securities are allotted and quoted.

T 4T = DO SINTED DO IAAENT
147 ELECTRONID OFFER DOOURENY

This Offer Document may be viewed online at www.australand.com.au. A paper copy of this Offer Document will be

provided free of charge to any person who requests a copy by contacting Australand or the Underwriters, by mail or in
person, during the peried of the Capital Raising.

Applications cannot be made electronically. An application may only be made by returning your Application Form in
accordance with the instructions on that form.

S
I8 QUESTIONS

Investors with questions in relation to the Entitlement Offer should contact either their accountant, stockbroker, lawyer or
other professional adviser, or for any other questions in relation 1o the Entitlement Offer call Australand Property Group's
Company Secretary on +61 2 9767 2000.

11
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L7 OVERVIEW OF AUSTRALAND PROPERTY GROUR

Australand Property Group is one of Australig’s largest diversified property groups with activities across Australia
covering residential land, housing and apartment developments, the provision of commercial and industrial facilities,
ownership of income producing properties, as well as management of AWPT3, AWPT4 and AWPTB.

Australand Property Group has four operating divisions being Land and Housing, Apartments, Commercial & Industrial

and Investment Properties. Australand Property Group’s medium term strategy is to reduce its dependence on
development profits and increase the level of recurrent income from income producing properties so that they are broadly

equivalent by 2007, This increased diversity of earnings should underpin earnings and distributions from 2004 onwards.

In 2003, Australand Property Group eamned total revenues of more than $1.4 billion, and recorded its seventh straight

record profit of $98.2 million. In 2004, Australand Property Group has forecast eamings of approximately $135 million
profit after tax. If both the Capital Raising and the Acquisition Propesal are completed, Australand Property Group has

forecast to earn approximately $144 million after tax.

Assuming the Capital Raising and Acquisition Propesal proceed, the proportion of recurrent investment income on an
annualised basis will increase from 31% to 36%. This is based on annualising the forecast earnings after tax and inter-

stapled entity interest and fees for the year ending 31 December 2004.

Australand Property Group has a strong profit after tax record since listing on the ASX and 8GX in 1997 through to the
year ended 31 December 2003, Forecast earings for 2004 are expected to continue this trend as illustrated below:
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Australand Property Group has three development divisions being Land and Housing, Apartments and Commercial
& Industrial. The chart below sets out divisional net profit before tax for Australand Property Group’s development

operations for the year ended 31 December 2003,
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W Commercial & Industrial 17%
B Apartments 28%
W Land and Housing 55%
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The relative mixture of revenue and profits for 2004 compared to 2003 within the development operations is expected
to be weighted more to the Land and Housing division. It is likely that the Apartments division’s pre-tax profits will be
substantially below the 2003 result due 1o approval delays and a reduction in the rate and level of pre-sales in 2004
compared to 2003. This is likely to be offset by an improved contribution from the Land and Housing division.

3307 Land and Hoosing

For the year ended 31 December 2003, the Land and Housing division generated revenue of $443.1 million from the
sale of 1,876 lots and 6689 dwellings. Operating profit before tax increased 10.2% from 2002, reflecting an overall
increase in land and housing prices. Consistent with this, the divisional profit margin increased from 18.4% to 19.8%.
Overall, margins on a product-by-product basis improved on those achieved in 2002,

Due to the continued shortage of affordable, zoned and serviceable land in Sydney, coupled with the difficult planning
environment, additional capital has been allocated {o the other three locations (Melbourne, South-East Queensland and
Perth).

While re-stocking will continue to provide a challenge in Sydney, this business unit has partially underwritten its revenues
for the period 2005 to 2010 by securing the rights to jointly develop 1,330 zoned lots at Second Ponds Creek in
Sydney’s North West with the NSW Government's Land Development Agency, Landcom.

In order to remain ahead of the market and capitalise on changing demographics and consumer irends, the division has
re-engineered its housing product range to enable it to produce dwellings for a broader segment of the market. This
strategy will further improve margins and the return on capital employed in the division.

During 2003, the division also allocated $132 million of capital to inventory re-stocking. The projected future yields and
sales revenue from Land and Housing projects can be summarised as follows:

Wholly owned Up to 6 years
Joint Venture/Other

Melbourne Wholly owned Up to 7 years
Joirt Venture/Other

South-Fast Wholly owned Up to 8 years
Queensland Joint Venture/Other

Perth Wholly owned 10 2,225 442 4373 126.0 Up to b years

Overall, sound economic conditions continue to create employment growth and demand albiet slower than experienced in
2003 for owner-occupier residential real estate.

™8T A n PN Ty
EEE Aparivnanis

In the year ended 31 December 2003, the Apartments division generated a pre-tax operating profit of $43.9 million from
revenue of $484.0 million compared to a pre-tax operating profit of $26.6 million from revenue of $461.1 million for the
prior year, due mainly to margin improvements and fewer project delays than in 2002, The rate of pre-sale generation

for the investor market slowed during 2003, however the generation of pre-sales for owner-occupier apartments has
continued at satisfactory rates. The rate of generation of pre-sales for 2004 has generally been slower than for the same
period in 2003,

During 2003, the Sydney business unit released three projects for sale - Discovery Point at Wolli Creek, Russet Place at
Forestville and Glebe Harbour, with strong interest shown in the Glebe Harbour and Discovery Point projects. However,
the business unit still faces the challenge of approval delays, which have delayed the release of projects in Duntroon
Avenue, St Leonards and 46a Macleay Street, Potts Point,

As at 31 December 2003, the Sydney business unit managed over 700 apartments in Sydney with vacancy rates around
2.0% to 2.5%.

The South-East Queensland apartment market performed satisfactorily during 2003 with strong pre-sales being
generated. During 2003, Australand entered into a co-venture in relation to the acquisition and development of land at
Hope Island in Queensland which is expected to yield approximately 350 houses and 330 apariments, which will be
jointly managed with the Land and Housing division.

During 2003, the Melbourne business unit's Freshwater apartment project continued to generate a reasonable level
of pre-sales because of its location and quality. By the end of 2003, mest of the investor stock in the Freshwater
project had been sold leaving mostly owner-occupier apartments to be sold during the balance of its trading life and
a satisfactory rate of sale for owner-cccupier apartments has been maintained since the beginning of 2004. The
Freshwater apartment project is being developed within a joint venture structure and construction is expected to be

v
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completed during March 2006. The Melbourne business unit also established a property management arm in late 2003
to assist its investor clients to procure tenants for their apartments. During the last six months, new tenants have been
procured for in excess of 220 apartments in two recently completed Australand apartment projects, which reaffirms the
fact that there is continuing demand in the rental market for well located new apartments.

Australand Property Group as at 31 December 2003, held approximately $166 million in pre-sales in respect of its
wholly owned projects and approximately $342 million in pre-sales for its joint venture projects, for which revenue has
not yet been recognised.

The Apartments division’s 2004 pre tax operating profit is likely to be substantially below the 2003 result because of
approval delays and a reduction in the rate and level of pre-sales in 2004 compared to 2003. This lower result is fully
factored into the Director’s Forecasts.

The number of apartments that were available for sale from current and future approved projects as at 1 January 2004
are set out below:

3 APRRIMENTS CONBTRUG LR

-Wholly owned 539 Up to 4 years
-Joint Venture 1,533 Up to 6 years
Melbourne -Wholly owned 736 Up to 4 years
-Joint Venture 341 Up to 2 years
South East -Wholly owned 329 Up to 3 years
Queensland -Joint Venture 330 Up 1o 6 years

233 Commarcial & indusivial

In the year ended 31 December 2003, the Commercial & Industrial division generated revenue of $468.6 million and
a pre-tax operating profit of $26.7 million, from the sale of land and the construction of 19 pre-committed projects
comprising approximately 76,000m2 of commercial space and 120,000m2 of industrial space. In 2003, the division
continued with the construction program for projects being delivered for AWPT3 and AWPT4.

The significant increase in operating revenue for the division in 2003, reflected the high level of commercial development
in progress including the Rhodes Corporate Park in Sydney’s west where international tenant, Nestlé, anchered two
buildings totalling 29,000mZ2, which were acquired by AWPT3. The estate’s fourth building which is pre-leased to Unisys is
expected to be completed in mid 2004 and has been sold to ING. Total sale value of these three stages was $140 million.

Construction of the 55,000m? Freshwater Place Office Tower on Melbourne’s Southbank reached 50% completion
in December 2003, and is anchored by a 23,000m? pre-commitment from intemational accounting group,
PricewaterhouseCoopers. Softening market conditions remain a factor in the Melbourne market, however Australand
Property Group remains confident of achieving further leasing commitments in 2004. Provisions anticipating the
deteriorating market conditions have been allocated with no significant impact expected in the 2004 full year.

Activity in the division’s key industrial markets included existing pipeline development plus new pre-commitments in
2003 of approximately 252,000m? including committed future workload for 2004 of 150,000m2,

The Victorian industrial market continues to perform strongly with estates in Dandencng, Derrimut, and the Melbourne
Airport Business Park at Tullamarine achieving on-geing pre-commitments.

The division achieved a major strategic goal in 2003 via the sale of eight pre-committed industrial facilities, which formed
AWPTS. The assets have an estimated on completion value of $104 million.

Australand Property Group expects the industrial pre-commitment markets to remain stronger than the commercial
office pre-commitment markets in 2004, The division’s acquisition focus in 2003 was on restocking the major industrial
markets. This included acquiring Axxess Corporate Park totalling some 13 hectares in Sydney's nerthwestern suburb

of Seven Hills along with the acquisition of approximately 120 hectares in the western Melbourne industrial suburb of
Derrimut. During 2003, development agreements were entered into with ING Industrial Trust in relation to industrial land
holdings in Sydney’s south western corridor suburbs of Moorebank and Minto {in joint venture). Australand also has
established a joint venture in which it holds a 50% interest in relation to a 56 hectare site in the Brisbane suburb of
Larapinta in which development is expected to commence during 2004,

The division’s 2004 profit estimates are supported by a significant level of work in progress which is pre-committed, as
well as a substantial number of industrial pre-commitments for which commercial terms have been finalised.

AURTRAMAND PRGPERTY JHOWUE PRODUCT DISCLOSURE STATEMENT AND PROSPECTUS
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33 INVESTRMIENT PROPERTIES

Australand Property Trust has a portfolic of 18 commercial and industrial properties underpinned by 21 tenancies. The
portfolio is currently valued at approximately $375 million and is 99% leased, The average lease term of the property
portfolio is 7.7 years, weighted by base rent. Major tenants in these buildings include Coles Myer, Commonwealth
Government of Australia and the State Government of NSW.

The current investment property portfolio of Australand Property Trust is set out in the table below.

AP RATE

Industrial
Walters Road, Arndell Park Exel 17,733 20,900 853% 1,836,143
130 Sharps Road, Tullamarine Laminex Industries 28,100 17,200 8.74% 1,836,673
57-71 Platinum Street, Crestmead Stramit Industries 19,299 16,300 8.75% 1,403,795
Lot 100, 8-12 Stanton Road, National Panasonic
Seven Hills Australia 10,708 13,700 8.00% 1,163,692
35-69 South Park Drive, Dandenong Priceline 21,345 13,500 8.25% 1,072,445
5-7 Trade Street, Lytton Berri Ltd 14,479 12,000 8.60% 1,016,434
40 Annandale Road, Tullamarine Star Track Express 16,749 10,760 8.75% 1,098,194
99 Shettleson Street, Rocklea Amcor Packaging 15,186 10675 9.00% 1,007,203
51 Stradbroke Street, Heathwood B & R Enclosures 10,040 95600 850% 799,538
Lot 102 Coghlan Road, Outer Harbour  Southcorp Wines 6,626 7,100 8.75% 665,320
1-19 South Park Drive, Dandenong Terra Harvest 8,027 6,600 8.25% 641,456
16 Archimedes Place, Murarrie HPA Lid 4,011 6,000 8.50% 520,948
Office
Corporate Satellite Centre,
690 Springvale Road, Mulgrave Coles Myer Ltd 21,258 61,800 8.25% 4676611
Gateway Building, Commenwealth
26-30 Lee Street, Sydney Government 12,630 56,000 8.00% 4,565,446
Henry Deane Building, State Government
20 Lee Street, Sycney of N3SW 9,112 38,200 8.00% 3,121,861
Building C, Rhodes Australand
Corporate Park, Rhodes Holdings Ltd 10,827 37,200 8.25% 3,072,806
Building 10, 658 Church
Street, Richmond Ansell Ltd 8,067 24,900 8.25% 2,088,899
90 Maribynong Street, Footscray Lonely Planet

Publications 7,293 12,400 9.75% 1,204,428
Total 241,390 374,725 31,791,482
NOTE:

1. Valuations undertaken as at 31 December 2003.
A4 OFERATING BTRATERY

In the medium term, Australand Property Group aims to diversify earnings by increasing the proportien of Australand
Property Group's earnings derived from recurrent investment income.

This will be achieved by:

= completing the Acquisition Proposal;

= limiting the aggregate level of investment in property development activities fo approximately current levels; and
* using most of the additional capital raised in the future to acquire additienal income producing assets.

JAT Bistribwtion polioy

Distributions from Australand Property Group will comprise dividends from Australand as well as distributions from
Australand Property Trust. These Distributions will be paid quarterly.

Australand Property Groug's current policy is that 100% of Australand Property Trust's distributable eamnings and
between 80% and 20% of Australand’s profits will be distributed to Securityholders.

17
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24,3 Goaring and interast rate managaysent
The Gearing level after the Capital Raising and Acquisition Proposal is forecast to be approximately 46.5% compared to
Australand Property Group Gearing of 51.0% as at 31 December 2003, During the forecast period, Australand Property

Group intends to maintain Gearing at pro forma levels.

Derivative financial instruments are currently used by Australand Property Group to hedge exposure to interest rate risk
associated with movements in interest rates which impact on the borrowings of Australand Property Group. Interest rate
swaps and rate cap fransactions are entered into to exchange variable interest payment obligations with fixed interest
rate obligations to protect Australand Property Group borrowings from the risk of increasing interest rates.

AT AN Sann S ey prany Niesas
34,3 Valuwation policy

The Responsible Entity may have the assets of Australand Property Trust valued at any time. Currently, real property is
valued annually.

B E R AATEEI FIRNN TNEY RN R BTN fe
4.5 AWPTE FROPERTY PORTROLID

The Acquisition Propesal involves the acquisition of the AWPT3 Units by Australand Property Trust. The fellowing is a
summary of key financial information regarding AWPT3 (which has been provided to Australand Property Group by the
board of AWIL) and regarding the consideration payable for each AWPT3 Unit:

Investment properties ($'000) 219,775
Less: other net liabilities ($'000) (117,506)
Netassetvalue (000) 102269
Net assets per unit 1.077
4% premium to net asset value per unit 0.043
Acguisition consideration per AWPT3 Unit 1.120

In addition, AWPT3 Unitholders will receive an amount equating to an annualised distribution yield of 9.24% per
annum on the $1.00 per unit original investment for the period from 1 April 2004 until despatch of the payment of the
consideration. This additicnal amount represents the equivalent pro-rata forecast for the 30 June 2004 quarter income
distribution for AWPT3.

The Acquisition Proposal has been assumed to be completed by 31 May 2004, However, completion could possibly
occur at any time up to 30 June 2004,

AWPT3 comprises a portfolio of eight recently developed commercial and industrial properties across three states of
Australia with a value of $220 million (based on sworn valuations as at 31 May 2004). The portfolio has a weighted
average capitalisation rate of 8.19% and is 93% leased to a variety of quality tenants including Cadbury Schweppes,
Nestlé, TNT and Toll Ipec. The portfolio has a weighted average lease term of 8.8 years as at 1 May 2004 weighted by
base rent, with certainty of income growth through fixed rental reviews. The AWPT3 property pertfolio consists of the
following assets:

NLA VAL AP RATS
Industrial
Greystanes Business Hub, Greystanes ~ Cadbury Schweppes 25,705 35,000 8.19% 2963211
680 Annandale Road, Tullamarine Willow Ware Australia 18,276 12,4'7H 850% 1,109,441
10 Stanton Road, Seven Hills Asics Oceania 7,065 9.600 8.44% 801,425
811 Abemethy Road, Forrestfield Toll Ipec 7,021 7,000 8.76% 612,850
75 Annandale Road, Tullamarine Caterpillar of Australia 10,280 5,800 8.64% 499,390
Office
Building D, Rhedes Corporate Park, Rhodes  Mestlé Australia 17,238 61,500 806% 4,910,786
Tower A, 197-201 Coward Street, Mascot  TNT Australia 12,700 46,260 78%  3,758644
Building B, Rhodes Corperate Park, Rhodes Nestlé Australia 12,674 42,260 839% 3544525
Totals 108,859 219,775 18,200,272
NOTE:

1 Valuations undertaken as at 31 May 2004, See section 2.7 for independent summary valuation reports.

AURTRAMAND PRGPERTY JHOWUE PRODUCT DISCLOSURE STATEMENT AND PROSPECTUS
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The Acquisition F’roposal, if successful, significantly enhances the strength of the investment portfolio of Australand
Property Group, as outlined in section 1.9.7. When combined with the existing Australand Property Trust property
portfolio, the new property portfolio will consist of 26 commercial and industrial properties incorporating approximately
350,000m? of net lettable area. The new portfolio will have a combined value of $595 million (based on the most recent
sworn valuations for the individual properties) and a weighted average lease term of 8.1 years as at 1 May 2004,

The addition of the AWPT3 property portfolio to Australand Property Trust's existing property portfolic will deliver a
number of benefits at the property portfolio level. These benefits include an increase in the portfolic’s weighted average
lease expiry from 7.7 years o 8.1 years as illustrated in the chart below.
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The geographic diversification of Australand Property Trust's portfolio will also be further enhanced through the addition
of the AWPT3 property portfolio. The proposed transaction will increase weighting towards New South Wales, with the
exposure to this state going from 44% to 61%, while also providing the trust with its first Western Australian asset. The
following chart shows the geographic diversification of Australand Property Trust's property pertfolio before and after the
Acquisition Proposal.

W Victoria 28%

238 New South Wales 61%
B Quesnsland 9%

W South Australia 1%
B Western Australia 1%

2 Vietoria 39%

W New South Wales 44%
W Queensland 15%

B South Australia 2%
Il Western Australia 0%
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BUILDING D, RHODES, NSW
(Rhodes Corporate Office Park)

MASCOT, NSW
{(Metrolink Corporate Park)

v
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Address
Property Type
Ownership
Location
Constructed
Lettable Area
No. Cars
Land Area
Major Tenant
Avg Unexpired
Lease Term

Building D, 1 Homebush Bay Drive, Rhodes, NSW

A modern six level "A’ grade commercial office building
Freehold title

14 kilometres from the Sydney CBD

Constructed and completed in 2003

17,238m2

375

6,263m?

Nestle Australia Limited (November 2013)

2.5 years approximately (at 1 May 2004)

Rent Review Structure Fixed annual 3.5% reviews at the commencement of Years 2,

Current Rent

4,5 7 8and 10.

Market rent reviews at the commencement of Years 3, 8 and
9. Completed on an effective basis and the reviewed rental
must not be less than the previcus rent increased by 3.5%

$4,910,786 per annum

Avg Current Rent (m2) Office: $250/m2 per annum
Avg Market Rent (m2) Office: $255/m?2 per annum

Occupancy

Address
Property Type
Ownership
Location
Constructed
Lettable Area
No. Cars
Land Area
Major Tenant

Avg Unexpired
Lease Term

100%

Tower A — 127-201 Coward Street, Mascot, NSW

A modern eight level "A" grade commercial office building
Freehold title

10 kilometres from the Sydney CBD

Constructed and completed in 2003

12,700m?2

299

3,909m?

TNT Australia Limited (July 2013)

Qantas Airways Limited (June 2013}

Karima Catering Enterprises Pty Limited {August 2013}

9.2 years approximately (at 1 May 2004)

Rent Review Structure TNT fixed 3.5% increases per annum

Current Rent

Qantas fixed 3.5% increases per annum
Karima fixed 3.5% increases per annum
$3,758,644 per annum

Avg Current Rent (m2) TNT:  $250/m2 per annum

Qantas: $238/m? per annum
Café:  $505/m2 per annum

Avg Market Rent (m2) Office: $238/m2 per annum

Occupancy

Café:  $505/m2 per annum
100%
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BUILDING B, RHODES, NSW
(Rhodes Corporate Office Park)

AURTRALAND PRGN

SUMMARY Address
Property Type
Ownership
Location
Constructed
Lettable Area
No. Cars
Land Area
Major Tenant

Avg Unexpired
Lease Term
Rent Review Structure

Current Rent

Avg Current Rent (m2)
Avg Market Rent (m2)
QOccupancy

ERTY QHOUT PRODUCT DISCLOSURE STATEMENT AND PROSPECTUS

Building B, 1 Homebush Bay Drive, Rhodes, NSW
A modern six level "A’ grade commercial office building
Freehold title

14 kilometres from the Sydney CBD

Constructed and completed in 2003

12,674m?

278

4,068m2

Nestle Australia Limited (July 2013)

Nestle Australia Limited (July 2008)

Income Support (July 2008}

B.7 years approximately (at 1 May 2004)

Nestle: Fixed annual 3.5% reviews at the commencement of
Years 2,4,5,7, 8 and 10.

Market rent reviews &t the commencement of Years 3, 6 and
9. Completed on an effective basis and the reviewed rental
must not be less than the previous rent increased by 3.5%
Nestle: Fixed annual 3.5% reviews at the commencement of
Years 2, 4, and B.

Market rent reviews at the commencement of Year 3.
Completed on an effective basis and the reviewed rental must
not be less than the previous rent increased by 3.5%.
Income Support: fixed 35% increases per annum
$3,544,525 per annum

Office: $250/m?2 per annum

Office: $250/m?2 per annum

93% (excluding income support from Australand)
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GREYSTANES, NSW
(Greystanes Business Hub)

\W\M\

VALUATIN SUMMARY Address Greystanes Business Hub, Greystanes, NSW
Value Property Type A modern industrial office and warehouse building
Vatuse Ownership Freehold title

Location 29 kilometres from the Sydney CBD

Constructed Constructed and completed in 2003

Lettable Area 25,705m?2

No. Cars 89

Land Area 60,980m2

Major Tenant Cadbury Schweppes Pty Limited (February 2013)

Avg Unexpired

Lease Term 8.8 years approximately (at 1 May 2004)

Rent Review Structure Fixed annual 3.0% reviews, with & market review on the 5th
anniversary of the Commencement Date.
Market review is on an effective basis and will be subject to a
minimum 3% and a maximum 8% increase.

Current Rent $2963211 per annum

Avg Current Rent (m2) $115/m2 per annum

Avg Market Rent (m?) $107.50/m2 per annum

Occupancy 100%

Expansion Potential  Appreximately 10,000m2 to 25,00Cm2 of gross building area

23



&
\@X}Q

24

ANNANDALE ROAD,
TULLAMARINE, VIC

(Melbourne Airport Business Park)

SEVEN HILLS, NSW

P

PR
oy L3

L

Address
Property Type

Ownership

Location

Constructed

Lettable Area

No. Cars

Land Area

Major Tenant

Avg Unexpired

Lease Term

Rent Review Structure
Current Rent

Avg Current Rent (m2)
Avg Market Rent (m?2)

Occupancy

Expansion Potential

st

Address
Property Type
Ownership
Location
Constructed
Lettable Area
No. Cars

Land Area
Major Tenant
Avg Unexpired
Lease Term
Rent Review Structure

Current Rent

Avg Current Rent (m2)
Avg Market Rent (m2)
Occupancy

AUSTRALANDG PRGPERTY QHOUIY PRODUCT DISCLOSURE STATEMENT AND PROSPECTUS
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80 Annandale Road, Tullamarine, VIC

A modern industrial office, warehouse and manufacturing
building

Leasehold interest expiring 30 June 2047

16 kilometres from the Melbourne CBD

Constructed and completed in 2003

16278m?

104

34,728m?2

Willow Ware Australia Ply Limited (May 2018}

14.0 years approximately (at 1 May 2004)
Fixed annual 3256% increases

$1,109.441 per annum

$68/m?2 per annum

$63/m? per annum

100%

Approximately 4,358m2 of gross building area

10 Stanton Road, Seven Hills, NSW

A modern industrial office and warehouse building
Freehold title

34 kilometres from the Sydney CBD

Constructed and completed in 2003

7,065m2

50

10,000m?2

Asics Qceania Pty Limited (April 201 1)

7.0 years approximately (at 1 May 2004}

Increases annually to the greater of 3.5% or CPI, with a
market review on the 5th anniversary of the Commencement
Date.

Market review is on an effective basis and will be subject to a
minimum 3.5% or CPl increase.

$8C1,425 per annum
$113/m2 per annum
$110/m2 per annum
100%
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FORRESTFIELD, WA 3 N
(Access Park Industrial Estate) 3 :

Address 60 Annandale Road, Tullamarine, VIC

Property Type A modern industrial office, warehouse and manufacturing
building

Ownership Leaseheld interest expiring 30 June 2047

Location 18 kilometres from the Melbourne CBD

Constructed Constructed and completed in 2003

Lettable Area 18,276m2

No. Cars 104

Land Area 34,726m?2

Major Tenant Willow Ware Australia Pty Limited (May 2018)

Avg Unexpired

Lease Term 14.0 years approximately (at 1 May 2004)

Rent Review Structure Fixed annual 325% increases

Current Rent $1,109,441 per annum

Avg Current Rent (m2) $68/m? per annum

Avg Market Rent (m?) $63/m? per annum

Occupancy 100%

Expansion Potential  Approximately 4,358m? of gross building area

ANNANDALE ROAD,
TULLAMARINE, VIC

{Melbourne Airport Business Park)

-
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VWALUATION SURMMARY Address 10 Stanton Road, Seven Hills, NSW
Vitue Property Type A modern industrial office and warehouse building
Vainar Ownership Freehold title
_— Location 34 kilometres from the Sydney CBD
‘: Constructed Constructed and completed in 2003
y Lettable Area 7,065m2
‘-.m aied No. Cars 50
SRaterm? of KLA Land Area 10,000m2
Major Tenant Asics Oceania Pty Limited (April 2011)
Avg Unexpired
Lease Term 7.0 years approximately {at 1 May 2004)

Rent Review Structure Increases annually to the greater of 3.5% or CPI, with a
market review on the 5th anniversary of the Commencement
Date.

Market review is on an effective basis and will be subject to a
minimum 3.5% or CP! increase.

Current Rent $801,425 per annum
Avg Current Rent (m?) $113/m? per annum
Avg Market Rent (m2) $110/m? per annum
Occupancy 100%
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FPDSavills (NSW) Pty Limited
ACN 058 848 829

19 April 2004 Level 5

55 Hunter Street

SYDNEY NSW 2000

AUSTRALIA
The Directors The Directors Telehone: 612 8215 8866
Australand Property Limited Australand Holdings Limited Direft Line: 612 8215 8853
Level 3 Level 3 Direct Fax: 612 8215 8859
1C Homebush Bay Drive 1C Homebush Bay Drive sjchnston@fpdsavills.com au
RHODES NSW 2138 RHODES NSW 2138 www fpdsavills.com.au
Dear Sirs,

Re: Valuation of Australand Wholesale Property Trust No.3 Properties
* 811 Abernethy Road, Forrestfield, WA
* Greystanes Business Hub, Greystanes, NSW
* Building B, Rhodes Corporate Park, Rhodes, NSW
* Building D, Rhodes Corporate Park, Rhodes, NSW
+«  Tower A 197-201 Coward Street, Mascot, NSW
+ 10 Stanton Road, Seven Hills, NSW
*« 60 Annandale Road, Tullamarine, VIC
+« 75 Annandale Road, Tullamarine, VIC

Instructions

We refer to your instructions dated 31 March 2004 and 1 April 2004, requesting us to
undertake valuations of the abovementioned properties as at 31 May 2004. We provide this
letter of summary on the properties for inclusion in the Australand Property Group Product
Disclosure Statement and Prospectus. For further information, reference should be made to
our full valuation reports dated 31 May 2004.

We have valued the market value of each property interest, subject to existing tenancies. We
confirm that the valuer is suitably qualified to have undertaken the valuations and the valuer
has no pecuniary interest that could be regarded as being capable of affecting that perscn’s
ability to give an unbiased opinion of value that could conflict with a proper valuation.

A summary of the valuations is as follows:
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Property:
811 Abemethy Road, Forrestfield, WA

Description:

The property is a modern industrial office and warehouse premises, completed in 2002,
comprising 7,021 square metres of gross lettable area plus 120 carparking spaces. The
property is situated approximately 12 kilometres east of the Perth CBD, within the Access
Park Industrial Estate.

The tenant is Toll Ipec Pty Limited with a lease expiring in July 2012.

Property:
Greystanes Business Hub, Greystanes, NSW

Description:

The property is a modern industrial office and warehouse premises, completed in 2003,
coemprising 25,705 square metres of gross lettable area plus 89 carparking spaces. The
property is situated approximately 29 kilometres west of the Sydney CBD, within the
Greystanes Business Hub.

The tenant is Cadbury Schweppes Pty Limited with a lease expiring in February 2013.

Property:
Building B, Rhodes Corporate Park, Rhodes, NSW

Description:

The property is a modern six-sterey building, completed in 2003, comprising two levels of
basement car parking for 278 vehicles, podium and levels 1 to 5 inclusive of cffice
accommadation and a rooftop plant rocm totalling a net lettable area of 12,674m2. The
property is situated approximately 14 kilometres north west of the Sydney CBD within the
Rhodes Corporate Office Park.

The building is leased to Nestle Australia Limited 3,535m’ expiring in July 2013 and 952m’
expiring in July 2008; in addition there is an income support agreement to Australand
Hcoldings Limited for five years expiring July 2008 (8,1 95m2).

$42,250,000 31/5/04 8.39% 8.39% B.75% 9.80% I $3,334

Q

27



&
\@X}Q

28

Property:
Building D, Rhedes Corporate Park, Rhodes, NSW

Description:

The property is a medern six-storey building, completed in 2003, comprising three levels of
basement car parking for 375 vehicles, podium and levels 1 to 5 inclusive of office
accommodation and a roof top plant room, totalling net lettable area of 17,238m2. The
property is situated approximately 14 kilemetres north west of the Sydney CBD within the
Rhodes Corporate Cffice Park.

The tenant is Nestle Australia Limited with a lease expiring in November 2013.

Property:
Tower A 197-201 Coward Street, Mascot, NSW

Description:

The property is a modern eight-storey office building, completed in 2003, comprising 12,700
square metres of net lettable area plus 299 carparking spaces. The property is situated
approximately 10 kilometres south of the Sydney CBD, within the Metrolink Corporate Park.

The building is leased to TNT Australia Limited (9,124m2) with a lease expiring in July 2013,
Qantas Airways Limited (3,368m’) with a lease expiring in June 2013 and a café with lease
expiring in August 2013.

Property:
10 Stanton Road, Seven Hills, NSW

Description:

The property is a maodern industrial office and warehouse premises, completed in 2003,
comprising 7,065 square metres of gross lettable area plus 50 carparking spaces. The
property is situated approximately 34 kilometres west of the Sydney CBD.

The tenant is Asics Oceania Pty Limited with a lease expiring in April 2011.

$9,500,000 31/5/04 8.44% 8.44% 9.00% 10.09% $1,345

AUSTRALANDG PRGPERTY QHOUIY PRODUCT DISCLOSURE STATEMENT AND PROSPECTUS
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Property:
60 Annandale Road, Tullamarine, VIC

Description:

The property is a modern industrial office and warehouse premises, completed in 2003,
comprising 16,276 square metres of gross lettable area plus 104 carparking spaces. The
property is situated approximately 16 kilometres north west of the Melbourne CBD, within the
Melbcurne Airport Business Park. The property is cwned by way of a leasehold interest
expiring 30 June 2047.

The tenant is Willow Ware Australia Pty Limited with a lease expiring in May 2018.

$12,475,000 31/5/04 8.61% 8.50% 10.25% 10.05% I N/A®

* Leasehold inforest

Property:
75 Annandale Road, Tullamarine, VIC

Description:

The property is a modern industrial office and warehouse, completed in 2003, premises
comprising 10,280 square metres of gross lettable area plus 45 carparking spaces. The
property is situated approximately 16 kilometres north west of the Melbourne CBD, within the
Melbcurne Airport Business Park. The property is cwned by way of a leasehold interest
expiring 30 June 2047.

The tenant is Caterpillar of Australia Pty Limited with a lease expiring in November 2016.

* Leasehold Interest
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Liability Disclaimer

FPDSavills has prepared this letter of summary for inclusion in the Australand Property
Limited Product Disclosure Statement and Prospectus. FPDSavills has nct been required to
approve or express any opinion about any part of the Product Disclosure Statement and
Prospectus, other than this letter of summary and the statements made in Secticn 2 of the
Product Disclosure Statement and Prospectus based on the valuaticns referred to in this
summary.

FPDSavills, its directors, executive officers and employees therefore cannct, and do not,
make any warranty or representation as to the accuracy or completeness of any infermaticn
or statement contained in any part of this Product Disclosure Statement and Prospectus,
other than those expressly made or given in this letter of summary and the statements made
in Secticn 2 of the Product Disclosure Statement and Prospectus based on the valuations
referred to in this summary. FPDSavills specifically disclaims liability to any person in the
event of any alleged false cr misleading statement in, or material omission frem, any part of
the Product Disclosure Statement and Prospectus other than in respect of the material
prepared by FPDSavills.

Yours faithfully,

L]
Andrew Johnston

Divisicnal Director
FPDSavills (NSW) Pty Limited
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This Section contains historical, forecast and pro forma financial information of Australand Property Group. The forecast
and pro forma financial information include the impact on Australand Property Group of the Capital Raising and
completion of the Acquisition Proposal.

Assumptions underlying the preparation of the forecast and pro forma financial information are presented together with
a sensitiviy analysis demonstrating the impact on the forecast financial information of variations in key assumptions.
The risks to which Australand Property Group’s businesses are subject are set out in Section & and should be read in
conjunction with this Section.

ALY Historval Hsancial information

The following historical financial information has been presented:

» audited statement of financial performance of Australand Property Group for the year ended 31 December 2003;
* audited statement of financial position of Australand Property Group as at 31 December 2003;

* audited statement of cash flows of Australand Property Group for the year ended 31 December 2003; and

= relevant notes {o the audited financial statements.

The historical financial information has been extracted from the audited financial statements of Australand Property
Group for the year ended 31 December 2003.

NN M saroies > e -
352 FPoroaoast financial informaiion

To illustrate the impact of the Capital Raising and Acquisition Proposal, the follewing forecast financial information of
Australand Property Group for the year ending 31 December 2004 has been prepared by the Directors on two separate
bases (“Directors’ Forecasts”):

(a) neither the Capital Raising nor the Acquisition Proposal proceed (“APG Standalone Forecast”); and

(b) both the Capital Raising and the Acquisition Proposal proceed (‘APG Combined Forecast”).

The Directors’ Forecasts include the assumptions underlying the preparation of the APG Standalone Forecast and the
APG Combined Forecast (see Section 3.7 for further details).

The APG Standalone Forecast has been prepared based on certain best estimate assumptions as determined by the
Directors regarding the forecast performance of Australand Property Group. The best estimate assumptions reflect
the Directors’ assessment of Australand Property Group based on present circumstances, anticipated economic and
operating conditions and the implementation of management’s business strategies.

The APG Combined Forecast has been based on the APG Standalone Forecast together with the:
= forecast financial information of AWPT3 for the year ending 31 December 2004 and related aggregation assumptions; and
* assumptions relating to the Capital Raising.

The directors of AWIL have prepared the forecast financial information of AWPT3 for incorporation into the APG
Combined Forecast.

The financial information regarding AWFT3 is based on information provided by AWIL as the responsible entity of AWPT3,
AWIL has consented to the inclusion of this information in this Offer Document in the form and context in which it appears.

Additional abbreviated forecast financial information is included in Section 3.12 to illustrate the impact on Australand
Property Group if the Capital Raising cccurs and Acquisition Proposal is not completed and no AWFT3 Units are
acquired.

343 Fro fonms siatewment of Tingneial positia
The pre forma statement of fmanmal position of Australand Property Group has been prepared to illustrate the impact
on Australand Property Group of both the Capital Raising and Acquisition Proposal being completed on 1 January 2004

(“APG Combined Pro Forma®*).

The pro forma statement of financial position has been derived from the audited statements of financial pesition of
Australand Property Group as at 31 December 2003, the reviewed statement of financial position of AWPT3 as at
31 December 2003, updated for independent valuation reports as at 31 May 2004, together with transactions and
adjustments required to implement the Capital Raising and Acquisition Proposal.

364 Bensiibvhy anadvsis
The forecast financial information should be read in conjunction with the sensitivity analysis in Section 3.11 which
illustrates the impact on the Directors’ Forecasts of variations in certain key assumptions.

ARRTRALANG SHGRERN JHO

PRODUCT DISCLOSURE STATEMENT AND PROSPECTUS



Y —
2.3 UNFORESEEN BVENTS

The forecast financial information reflects the Directors’ assessment of Australand Property Group based on present

circumstances, anticipated economic and operating conditions and the implementation of management’s business strategies.

While the Directors believe the assumptions used in preparing the forecast financial information are appropriate and
reasonable at the time of preparation, some factors that affect the actual resulis cannot be foreseen or accurately
predicted and many of these factors are beyond the control of the Directors. Events and circumstances often do not
occur as expected, therefore actual results may differ from the forecast results and the differences may be material.
Consequently, the Directors cannot, and do not, guarantee that the forecast or pro forma results will be achieved

and Securityholders are advised to carefully consider both the risk factors in Section 5 and the assumptions used in
preparing the forecast financial information when considering the forecasts and pro forma results and the likely future
performance of Australand Property Group.

PR REPORY

The Investigating Accountant has reviewed the historical, pro forma and forecast financial information of Australand
Property Group.

The historical, pro forma and forecast financial information should be read in conjunction with the Investigating
Accountant’s report set out in Section 4. Securityholders should note the comments made in relation to the scope and
limitations of the Investigating Accountant’s review.
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This Section presents the audited statement of financial performance of Australand Property Group for the year ended
31 December 2003, the APG Standalone Forecast and the APG Combined Forecast

Property development sales revenue 1,374,925 1,334,367 1,334,367
Rental from investment properties 6,060 31,796 44,028
Interest revenue 45bb 3,400 3,400
Ofherreverve 19829 16rer 16138
Revenue from ordinary activities 05,369 1,386,290 1,397,933
Cost of properties sold and

employee benefits costs (1,193518) (1,206,235) (1,206,235)
Australand Property Trust expenses (963) (2,7086) (3,364)
Depreciation (2,h89) (2,624) (2.624)
Amortisation of goodwill (5,326) (5,326) (5,326)
Other expenses from ordinary activities (46,240) (37,935) (37,935)
Stapling and acquisition costs (11,017 - (1,288)
Share of net profits of associates and joint venture

partnerships accounted for using the equity method 15,529 61,857 61,857
Gross margin 161,245 193,321 203,018
Borrowing costs expense (14834) (18863) (17.086)
Operating profit from erdinary activities before income tax 146,411 177,768 185,932
Income tax expense ] (49064) . (42548) . (42350)
Net profit 96,447 135,210 1435675
Net profit attributable to outside equity interest (1,241 - -
Net profit attributable to members 95,206 135,210 1435675
Eamings per Stapled Security (cents) 17.1 1914 1834

NOTES:

1 Extracted from the audited financial statements of Australand Property Group for the year ended 21 December 2003

2 APG Standalone Forecast for the year ending 31 December 2004 represents Australand Property Group without the Capital Raising or Acguisition Proposal.

3 APG Combkined Forecast for the year ending 31 December 2004 represents Australand Property Group after implementation of the Capital Raising and
the Acquisition Proposal. It includes the forecast results of AWPT2 for the pericd from 1 May 2004 to 31 December 20C4.

4 The calculation of earnings per Stapled Security for the year ending 31 Decermber 2004 has been calculated on a diluted basis, however no adjustment

has been made for conversion of Options.

5 Details of the assumptions used to compile these statements from the respective statements of tinancial performance of Australand Property Group and

AWPT 2 are set out in Section 3.7 of this Offer Document.
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The actual and forecast Distributions are expected to consist of franked dividends from Australand and distributions from
Australand Property Trust, which may contain a tax deferred component. The actual and forecast Distributions and tax
deferred component for Australand Property Group are detailed below:

Fully franked dividends 12.0 106 103
Australand Property Trust distributions 1.4 b9 6.9
Tex defered component® e 22 ] 22% S1%
Total Distribution 134 165 165
NOTES:

1 The calculation of Distributions per Stapled Security has been based on the forecast number of Stapled Securities on issue at the end of each quarter
during 2004, The actual dividend and distribution per Stapled Security may ditfer due to the timing of equity flows.

2 APG Standalone Forecast for the year ending 31 December 2004 represents Australand Property Group without the Capital Raising or Acguisition Proposal.

3 APG Combined Forecast for the year ending 31 December 2004 represents the Australand Property Group after implementaticn of the Capital Raising
and the Acquisition Proposal. It includes the forecast results of AWPT3 for the pericd from 1 May 2004 to 31 December 2004.
4 The tax deferred component only relates to the distributions from Ausiraland Property Trust.

The forecast earnings per Stapled Security for the year ending 31 December 2004 is higher in the APG Standalone
Forecast than in the forecast contained in the 2003 APG Offer Document. This is because fewer Stapled Securities
were taken up by AWPT and AWPT2 unitholders as consideration for the acquisition of their units by Australand Property
Trust than had been assumed and consequently less debt was repaid than was forecast.

The size of the Capital Raising has been established to enable Australand Property Group to achieve the level of gearing
set out in the 2003 APG Offer Document. As a result, the EPS and DPS in the APG Combined Forecast are lower than
in the APG Standalene Forecast, although they are broadly in line with the EPS and DPS envisaged at the time of the
2003 APG Offer Document.
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This Section contains the audited statement of financial position of Australand Property Group as at 31 December
2003 and the APG Combined Pro Forma prepared on the basis that the Cepital Raising and Acguisition Proposal were
implemented on 1 January 2004.

oo g
Cash assets 30,667 31,969
Receivables 328,079 328,079
Inventories 1,050,606 1,050,605
Investment in joint venture entities 123,421 123,421
Property investments 374,376 598,456
Investment in AWFTs 34,690 25,190
Goodwill 54,789 54,789
e B ClS oo 880 14010 .
Total assets 2,008,067 2,226,509
Interest bearing liabilities 621,601 650,881
Land vendor liabilities 97941 97941
Other liadllitles 298707 279,169
Total liabilities 1,013,249 1,027,991
Net assets 994,808 1,198518

Securityholders’ equity

Parent entity interest

Contributed equity 794,333 098,643
Retained profits 190,108 188,819
Revaluation reserve e A 5707 .
Total parent entity interest 989,4h9 1,193,169
Outside equity interests in controlled entities . Slicai 5849 .
Total Equity 994,808 1,188518
NTA per Stapled Security? $1.36 $1.39
NOTES:

1 Extracted from the audited financial statements of Australand Property Group for the year ended 31 December 2003,

2 Australand Property Group assuming that the Capital Raising and Acquisition Proposal were implemented on 1 January 2004,
2 NTA is derived from net assets adjusted for goodwill and cutside squity interests.
4

Details of the transactions and adjustments required to compile this statement from the respective statements of financial position of Australand Property
Group and AWPT3 are contained in Section 3.8 of this Offer Document
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. S
AH  AUSTRALAND PROPERTY GROUP HISTORICAL STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

This Section contains the audited statement of cash flows of Australand Property Group for the year ended 31 December 2003.

BUAVEMENT {30 CAS FUWS

Cash Flows from operating activities

Receipts from trade and other debtors 1,399,492
Payments to suppliers and employees (1,265,391)
Dividends and trust distributions recieved 2,733
Interest received 4,6b5
Borrowing costs paid (55,295)
Income tax paid (71819)
Net cash flows provided by operating activities 14,275
Cash Flows from investing activities

Proceeds from sale of investments 23,032
Payments for purchase of jeint venture equity investments (25,255)
Payments for purchase of unlisted preperty trust units (147,370}
Loans acvanced from related parties 22,035
Proceeds from sale of plant and equipment 607
Payments for pantand equpment U4
Net cash flows used in investing activities (127,093)
Cash Flows from Financing activities

Proceeds from borrowings 401,966
Repayment of borrowings (407,543)
Dividends/distributions paid (56,698)
Payments for redemption of reset preference shares (63,132)
Cash acquired on acquisition of entities 3,016
Proceeds from issue of shares/units (net of equity reising costs) 225772
Net cash flows provided by financing activities 113,370

Net increase in cash held bb2
Cashatthe beginning of year 30018
Cash at the end of year 30,567
NOTES:

1 Extracted from Australand Property Group's audited financial staternents for the year ended 31 December 2003.
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This Section sets out:
= the Directors’ best estimate assumptions in relation to the APG Standalene Forecast;

* AWIL directors’ best estimate assumptions in relation to the forecast financial information of AWPT3; and
= the Directors’ best estimate assumptions in relation to the APG Combined Forecast.

(a) Sales revenue

The APG Standalone Forecast includes sales and profit forecasts for Land and Housing, Apartments and Commercial
& Industrial projects being developed by the development operations as well as rental income derived from investment
properties held by the property investment operations. Refer to Section 3.10.1 for accounting policies adopted for

the recognition of revenue and profits from development operations, including the impact of the refined estimation
methodology.

The APG Standalone Forecast includes sales revenue based on assumptions specific to individual projects having
regard to:

* specific estimates of selling prices for all projects based on estimates of current demand, sales of previous stock or
similar stock in the area;

= specific estimates of the forecast stage of completion of development works;

* specific estimates of the forecast rate for sale of stocks of land and housing and apartments;

* specific estimates of forecast sales and pre-lease commitments of commercial and industrial developments; and
= current rental leases in place for investment properties.

Achievement of the forecasts does not require any additional land stock to be acquired in the forecast period. Australand
Property Group has sufficient projects in progress and land banks at various stages of development to satisfy the
forecast requirements.

Sales revenue and profit which may be derived in the future, from the reinvestment of working capital in the purchase of
future development sites, has not been included in the forecast financial information.

Australand Property Group’s financial report, lodged with ASX, for the year ended 31 December 2003 disclosed the
pipelines set out in Sections 2.2.1 and 2.2.2 which have formed the basis for the APG Standalone Forecast.

(b) Development and Investment Resulis
The mix of revenue and profit for the year ended 31 December 2003 and the forecast mix of revenue and profit for the
year ending 31 December 2004 between the development company and investment trust operations is set out below:

APG Historical

Revenue including interest and fee income 1,395,780 13,583 (3,994) 1,405,369
Profit before tax from ordinary activities 151,000 9,795 (14,384) 146,411
APG Standalone Forecast

Revenue including interest and fee income 1,356,860 49,296 (19,866) 1,386,290
Profit before tax from ordinary activities 135,636 44,589 (2,367) 177,758
APG Combined Forecast

Revenue including interest and fee income 1,366,860 57,835 (16,762) 1,397 933
Profit before tax from ordinary activities 138,363 52,470 (2001 185,932

The relative mixture of revenue and profits for 2004 compared to 2003 within the development operations is expected
to be weighted more to the Land and Housing division. It is likely that the Apartments division’s pre-tax profits will be
substantially below the 2003 result due to approval delays and a reduction in the rate and level of pre-sales in 2004
compared to 2003, This is likely to be offset by an improved contribution from the Land and Housing division.

(c) Securitisation
It has been assumed that no new projects will be securitised in the forecast period.

ARRTRMANG PHGRERYTY JHOUEY PRODUCT DISCLOSURE STATEMENT AND PROSPECTUS



(d) Cost of property sold

The APG Standalene Forecast includes an assessment of likely costs for each project, including a detailed estimate

of development costs for each project having regard to the experience on cemparable projects, independent extemnal
consultants’ and quantity surveyors’ reports, internal estimating department projections and the existence of fixed price
lump sum contracts for some larger projects. Censtruction costs are expected to increase at varying rates approximating
CPl fo reflect expected local conditions.

Major Apartments division projects during the forecast period have either fixed price construction contracts or have been
subject to cost plan review. In the Land and Housing division, which typically has smaller stages, costs have historically
increased slightly less than or approximating CPI.

(e) Rental guarantees

In instances where Australand has provided rental guarantees or other income support arrangements, appropriate
development cost allowances have been established based on the expected length of the vacancies, determined in
relation to current and expected market conditions.

(f) Employee expenses and other expehses
It has been assumed that employee expenses and other expenses will remain in line with current levels.

(g) Depreciation and amortisation
Depreciation and amortisation rates are assumed to remain consistent with historical levels during the forecast period.

(h) Borrowing cost expense
The weighted average interest cost for all borrowings (including margins and fees) is 6.77% in the forecast period,
compared to a rate of 8.94% for the year ended 31 December 2003.

(i) Treatment of hedge arrangements

Existing swap contracts in place for AWFT3 may be closed out with any ongoing potential exposure to interest rate
movements incorporated in the Australand Property Group hedging programme. The cost associated with the termination
of these arrangements is immaterial based on current interest rate prices.

() Distribution reinvestment plan (“DRP”) and issues of Stapled Securities

A DRF has been implemented for Australand Property Group and it has been assumed that the DRP will be at a
price of $1.67 per Stapled Security and will have an overall acceptance of approximately 13% for the June guarter
and an acceptance rate of 100% in respect of the September quarter, when it is assumed that the DRP will be fully
underwritten.

In accordance with the Australand Property Group Employee Securities Ownership Plan, approximately 3.5 million
Stapled Securities are proposed to be issued to Australand Property Group employees in May 2004 in respect of the
year ending 31 December 2004, Stapled Securities are to be issued at a price determined by the volume weighted
average price of Stapled Securities 15 days prior to the issue.

(k) Profit from joint ventures and partherships
It has been assumed that existing joint ventures and partnerships continue under current arrangements. The profit from
joint ventures and partnerships will be derived from projects that were in progress at 31 December 2003,

(I) Net rental income

Rental income includes net rental income and other income earned from the Australand Property Trust properties.
Forecast net rental income is based on current leases and, where applicable, any forecast changes on review and
renewal. Factors taken into account include an assessment of likely market conditions, competing property vacancy rates,
inflation levels, lease incentives that may be necessary and capital expenditure.

(m) Property expenses

An individual assessment of both recoverable and nen-recoverable expenses for each investment property has been
made to determine the basis of the net rental income forecast for each property and an appropriate factor has been
applied where relevant.

(n) Investment property acquisitions and sales
It is assumed that the investment property portfolic of Australand Property Trust remains unchanged during the forecast
period, other than the acquisition of AWPT3 properties.

(o) Investment property carrying values

Investment properties are revalued to fair value at acquisition. Ne revaluation gains or losses, except for the fair value
adjustments on acquisition, have been assumed in the forecast period and consequently there is no impact on the
statement of financial performance.
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(p) Distributions

It has been assumed for the APG Standalone Ferecast that the Distribution for the year ending 31 December 2004 will
be 16,5 cents per Stapled Security as previously set out in the 2003 APG Offer Document. This represents 100% of the
forecast distributable income for Australand Property Trust and 81% of the forecast distributable income for Australand.

(q) Income Taxation

Australand
An income tax rate of 30% has been applied throughout the forecast period.

Australand Properly Trust

It has been assumed that Australand Property Trust will be managed so that the deductions available under current
income tax legislation will be applicable and consequently Australand Property Trust will not be liable for income tax. It is
specifically assumed that the non-remeasurement income of Australand Property Trust will be fully distributed each year.

(N GST

A GST rate of 10% has been applied throughout the forecast period. All financial information has been stated at the
forecast net amount to Australand Property Group. Where GST will be paid and a refund is to be obtained, the expense
has been shown net of GST. Where a full refund will not be obtained, the expense includes the non-recoverable GST.
373 Assamptiong relating o e AWPTR forscast Snanoial infonmaiion

(a) Net rental income

Rental income includes net rental income and other income eamed from the AWPT3 properties. Forecast net rental
income is based on current leases and, where applicable, any forecast changes on review and renewal. Factors taken
into account include an assessment of likely market conditions, competing property vacancy rates, inflation levels, lease
incentives that may be necessary and capital expenditure.

(b) Property expenses

An individual assessment of both recoverable and non-recoverable expenses for each property has been made to
determine the basis of the net rental income forecast for each property and an appropriate factor has been applied
where relevant.

(c) Property acquisitions and sales
It is assumed that the property portfolio of AWPT3 remains unchanged during the forecast peried.

(d) Investment properties

Investment properties are revalued at fair value on acguisition. No revaluation gains or losses, except for the fair value
adjustments on acquisition, have been assumed in the forecast period and consequently there is ne impact on the pro
forma statement of financial performance.

(e) Taxation

It has been assumed that AWFT3 will be managed so that the deductions available under current income tax legislation
will be applicable and consequently AWPT3 will not be liable for income tax. It is specifically assumed that the non-
remeasurement income of AWFT3 will be fully distributed each year.

. T POy .
Forevast nslnding His aggrogstion

The APG Combmed Forecast is based on the assumptlons underlying the APG Standalone Forecast and AWFT3
forecast financial information, together with the following assumptions relating to the aggregation of Australand Property
Group and AWPT3 and the Capital Raising.

(a) Effective dates of the Capital Raising and Acquisition Proposal
It has been assumed that the Acquisition Proposal is effective from 1 May 2004.

It has been assumed that 100% of the Institutional Placement and 85% of the Entitlement Offer will take place on
10 May 2004 and the balance of the Entitlement Offer will take place on 24 May 2004.

The statutory results for the year ending 31 December 2004 will be based on the actual date that Australand Property
Trust is deemed to control AWPT3 and the actual date of the Capital Raising, which may differ from the assumed dates
in this Offer Document. This may result in differences between the forecast and actual results.

(b) Costs associated with the Capital Raising
Estimated costs of approximately $3.2 million in relation to the Capital Raising have been offset against the proceeds of
the Capital Raising.
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(c) Costs associated with the Acquisition Proposal

Under the terms of the Acquisition Proposal, AWPT3 Unitholders are being offered net tangible assets (NTA) plus 4% as
at 31 May 2004 for their AWPT3 Units. Independent property valuations have been undertaken on individual preperties
as at 31 May 2004, $4.3 million of acquisition costs is being capitalised to property acquisition costs within the APG
Combined Pro Forma, in accordance with Australian accounting standards.

This approach varies from the treatment adopted in the acquisition of AWPT and AWPT2, where the premium on
acquisition of $6.5 million was expensed.

(d) Performance management fees

It has been assumed that the ene-off performance management fees which could be payable as provided for in the
AWPT3 Information Memorandum to apply upon the disposal of units by AWPT3 Unitholders of approximately $4.4
million will be waived by Australand Property Group.

(e) Impact of the Capital Raising on borrowing cost expense

The total Capital Raising amount of approximately $188.5 million will be partly employed to reduce the level of
Australand Property Group Gearing and consequently reduce credit risk. The borrowing costs expense will:

* reduce by $7.9 million before tax for the year ending 31 December 2004 if AWPT3 Units are not acquired; and
* increase by $1.5 million before tax for the year ending 31 December 2004 if AWPT3 Units are acquired.

(f) Distributions

It has been assumed for the APG Combined Forecast that the Distribution for the year ending 31 December 2004 will
be 16.6 cents per Stapled Security. This represents 100% of the forecast distributable income for Australand Property
Trust and approximately 88% of the forecast distributable income for Australand.

This Section sets out the transactions and adjustments made to the audited statement of financial position of Australand
Property Group as at 31 December 2003 to reflect the impact of the Capital Raising and Acquisition Proposal as at 1
January 2004,
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387 impleneniation of the Caplial Raising and Sequisition Praposal

It has been assumed that for the purposes of the APG Combined Pro Forma that the Capital Raising and Acquisition
Proposal occurred on 1 January 2004. This will differ from the actual financial position which will be based on the actual
implementation dates of the Acquisition Proposal and the Capital Raising.
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The Capital Raising assumes that approximately $188.3 million will be raised, after allowing for costs of the Capital
Raising, through the issue of New Stapled Securities by Australand Property Group at $1.63 per New Stapled Security.

Options over unissued securities, and securities 1o be alloted in connection with the DRP in the period to 31 March
2004 have been taken into account A summary of securities outstanding for the purpose of the Pre Forma financial
information is set out below.

Balance at 31 December 2003 689,884,039 794,333

Pro forma adjustments:

Options converted 62,600 1.58 99
December 2003 DRP 11,877,037 1.59 18,884
Capital Raising 115,660,511 1.63 188,627
Cepita Reising costs e 82000
Balance at 1 January 2004 817,484,087 998,643

M
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The proceeds of the Capital Raising of approximately $188.5 million are intended to be used as follows:

AN CANDN OF PROGEEDRS

Acguisition of AWPT3 Units $97.8m

Reduction in the level of gearing $87.5m

Costs of CaPMAl RAISING | e 332 e
$18856m

The Capital Raising and Acquisition Proposeal have the following combined impact on the interest bearing liabilities of
Australand Property Group.

Interest Bearing Liabilites

Bank loans - secured 571,601 600.881
MNotes - unsecured 50,000 50,000

621,601 650,881
Gearing 51.0% 46.5%
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A8 Soquisiion Proapoasal
The consideration for the acquisition of the AWPT3 Units under the Acquisition Proposal is estimated at approximately
$98 million. The APG Combined Pro Forma assumes the consideration will be fully satisfied in cash.

The Acquisition Proposal has the following impact on the investment properties of Australand Property Group.

AREGE

Details of individual completed investment properties carried
at cost are set out below:

90 Maribymong Street, Footscray Vic 12,400 12,400
690 Springvale Rd and 350 Wellington Rc, Mulgrave Vic 62,151 62,151
658 Church Street, Richmond Vic 24,700 24,700
Lot 102 Coughlan Road, Outer Harbour SA 7,100 7,100
57-71 Platinum Street, Crestmead Qld 16,300 16,300
5-7 Trade Street, Lytton Qld 12,000 12,000
16 Archimedes Place, Murarrie Qld 6,000 6,000
1C Hemebush Bay Drive, Rhodes NSW 37,000 37,000
5 Henry Deane Flace, Railway Square, Sydney NSW 38,000 38,000
40 Annandale Road, Tullamarine Vic 10,750 10,750
118 Sharps Road, Tullamarine Vic 17,200 17,200
1-19 South Park Drive, Dandenong Vic 6,600 8,600
35-39 South Park Drive, Dandencng Vic 13,500 13,600
99 Shettleston Street, Rocklea Qld 10,675 10,575
b1 Stradbroke Street, Heathwood Qld 9,600 9,600
Walters Road, Arndell Park NSW 20,200 20,900
8-12 Stanton Road, Seven Hills NSW 13,700 13,700
26-30 Lee Street, Gateway Building, Sydney NSW 56,000 56,000
811 Abernethy Road, Forestville, WA* 7,137
Tower A 197-201 Coward Street, Mascot, NSW* 47,156
1D Homebush Bay Drive, Rhodes NSW* 62,70
1B Homebush Bay Drive, Rhodes NSW* 43078
Cadbury Schweppes, Greystanes Business Hub, Greystanes, NSW™ 35,686
10 Stanton Road, Seven Hills, NSW* 9,686
75 Annandale Road, Tullamarine, VIC* 5913
60 Annandale Road, TUIBMAINg, VICT oo 12719 .
374,376 598,456

* Valuations of AWPT2 properties, including capitalised acquisition costs, as at 21 May 2004,

The estimated values on acquisition of the AWPT3 properties are based on fair value being the amounts for which the
properties could be exchanged between willing parties in an arm’s length transaction, based on current prices in an active
market for similar properties in the same location and condition subject to similar leases, including acquisition costs of
$4.3 million.
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The existing debt together with the future operating revenue that Australand Property Group expects to generate over
the forecast period are anticipated to be sufficient to meet the needs of Australand Property Group in respect of its
expected restocking requirements in the forecast peried, debt repayment commitments and working capital needs.

If the Acquisition Proposal is implemented, AWPT3 will be degeared and the debt requirements of Australand Property
Group will be satisfied by facilities that are currently available to Australand Property Group.

O

Bank Loans 712,489 625,668 86,821
Unsecured Notes 50,000 50,000 0
Bank Guarantee Facilities 101,000 44,672 56,328
Bond Facilitles ] 42065 25397 17268 .
Total 906,104  74BT37 160417
NOTES:

1 Net of cash at bank and cash on deposit of $17,695,000 as at 31 March 2004,

Australand Property Group raises debt in the normal course of business based on trading assets available from time to
time. Additional security pools will be available with the acquisition of AWPT3 and its subsequent degearing.

Part of the Capital Raising proceeds wil be used to reduce the level of gearing, which may include the repayment of
unsecured notes (currently due to mature on 30 June 2004). Australand Property Group is likely to restructure part of its
existing debt facilities to include capital markets debt, such as commercial mortgaged backed securities. The timing of any
restructure would depend on a number of factors including the capital market conditions in the future. The effect of any
restructure of the debt facilities should enable the weighted average interest rate for 2004 to be below that achieved in
2003.

Y Compianoe with scoouniing slandards

The historical, pro forma and forecast financial infermation has been prepared in accordance with Australian Accounting
Standards, other mandatory professional reperting requirements (Urgent Issues Group Consensus Views) and the
Corporations Act. The historical, pro forma and forecast financial information are presented in an abbreviated form in

so far as they do not comply with all the disclosures required by Australian Accounting Standards applicable to annual
reports prepared in accordance with the Corporations Act.

The accounting policies have been applied in the forecast period on a consistent basis with the policies disclosed in
Australand Property Group’s Annual Report for the year ended 31 December 2003,

In accordance with Australian accounting standards, revenue is recognised on property development projects using
the percentage of completion method. The progressive refinement of profit recognition on a percentage of completion
contract by contract basis will result in the recognition of additional profit of $2.7 million after tax in the forecast period.

It has been assumed that there are no further changes in Australian Accounting Standards during the forecast period
which will have a material impact on the performance and position of Australand Property Group.

SN R
IR L

’ﬁ

g iniation
It is assumed that there are no changes in federal, state or local government laws, regulations or policies that will have a
material impact on the performance or position of Australand Property Group.
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For reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 20056, Australand Property Group must comply with International
Financial Reporting Standards (*IFRS") as issued by the Australian Accounting Standards Board.

All financial information disclosed in this Offer Document has been prepared in accordance with generally accepted
accounting principles in Australia (*Australian GAAP"). The differences between Australian GAAP and IFRS identified
by management to date as potentially having a significant effect on the financial position and financial performance of
Australand Property Group are summarised below. The summary should not be taken as an exhaustive list of all the
differences between Australian GAAP and IFRS. No attempt has been made to identify all disclosure, presentation or
clessification differences that would affect the manner in which transactions or events are presented.

Management has not quantified the effects of the differences discussed below. Accordingly, there can be ne assurances
that the financial performance and/cr position of Australand Property Group as disclosed in this Offer Document would
not be significantly different if determined in accerdance with IFRS.
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Regulatory bodies that promulgate Australian GAAP and IFRS have significant ongeing projects that could affect

the differences between Australian GAAP and IFRS described below and the impact of these differences relative to
Australand Property Groug's financial statements in the future. You should consult your own professional advisers for an
understanding of the differences between Australian GAAP and IFRS.

The potential impacts on the financial performance and financial position of Australand Property Group of the adoption
of IFRS, including system upgrades and other implementation costs, which may be incurred, have not been guantified
as the actual impacts will depend on the particular circumstances prevailing at the time of adoption. The first financial
year to which IFRS is expected to be applicable to Australand Property Group is the year ending 31 December 2005
and accordingly the forecast statement of financial performance of Australand Property Group for the year ending 31
December 2004 is based on existing Australian accounting standards.

The key petential implications of the conversion to IFRS for Australand Property Group are:

* Financial instruments - under IFRS financial instruments will generally be recognised on the statement of financial
position at fair value. Derivatives will need to meet stricter criteria for treatment as hedges otherwise they will be
marked to market through the statement of financial performance.

= Goodwill - under IFRS goodwill will not be amortised but will be subject to impairment testing.

* Borrowing costs - under IFRS borrowing costs in respect of qualifying assets may be expensed rather than capitalised
to asset values.

Internally constructed investment properties - under IFRS properties that are developed internally will need to be

carried at cost but will be able to be remeasured to fair value at practical completion.

* Rental guarantees - under IFRS the existence of significant rental guarantees on a project could lead to the delay in
recognition of revenues.

* Revenue recognition - under IFRS the rules for recognition of revenue are stricter and it is possible that this could lead
to a delay in recognition of certain revenue.

= Investment properties - under IFRS investment properties will be either fair valued with increments/decrements going

through the statement of financial performance or measured at cost and depreciated. Owner occupied properties or

elements of investment properties that are owner occupied will generally not meet the definition of investment properties.

17 BENSITIVITY ANALYRIS

A sensitivity analysis has been provided below to assist Securityholders in their assessment of the future performance of
Australand Property Group. The sensitivity analysis shows how earnings per Stapled Security (*EPS”) and Distributions
per Stapled Security (*DPS") of Australand Property Group will change with a variation in certain key assumptions.

Securityhelders should also consider the risk factors set out in Section b.

The sensitivity analysis below should not be taken to imply the likely level of change in the relevant variable over the
forecast period, nor is it meant to imply the likely best and worst case scenarios in terms of overall profitability or that
these are the only variables that could change.

The forecast financial information has been prepared on a project by project basis, therefore changes in either project
specific or broader economic factors are likely to result in a multiple number of scenarios as different geographic and
market segments are likely to react differently to a change. To illustrate the EPS and DPS impact of potential movements
in broader economic factors, which include interest rates, consumer demand, inflation and employment levels a sensitivity
based on a 1% movement in sales revenue is presented.

Variations may occur in the project specific assumptions, such as regional pricing movements or delays and/or
acceleration in the commencement of projects. Having regard to the project specific and general allowances that
have been made in the compilation of the forecasts, it is the Directors’ opinion that such project specific variances in
assumptions are unlikely to be material within the forecast period.

Sensitivity of forecasts to changes in sales revenue

Increase in Development Sales Revenue of 1% 20.2 17.4 19.3 1
1

Decrease in Development Sales Revenue of 1% 18.0 167 17.4

Sensitivity of forecasts to changes in capitalisation rates

A change in capitalisation rates applying to the investment properties of Australand Property Trust and AWPT3 of 25
basis points (0.26%) will change the carrying value of the pro forma combined Australand Property Group’s income
producing assets by approximately $17 million. In the case of an increase in carrying value, the increase will be reflected
in Australand Property Group’s revaluation reserve. It is not intended that Australand Property Group will distribute any
such increases until the increase is realised on sale. In the case of a decrease in carrying value, the decrease is
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first reflected by reducing the revaluation reserve to the extent of previous increases in the reserve with respect to the
property or properties concerned and to the extent that there is no available amount in the revaluation reserve, by taking
a charge against the statement of financial perfermance.

Sensitivity of forecasts to changes in investment property income

Each of the 18 investment properties controlled by Australand Property Trust and the AWPT3 Investment Properties are
fully tenanted throughout the forecast period, with the exception of two tenancies, for which an apprepriate let up period
has been allowed, Fluctuations in investment property income in the range of 5-10% are also not material to overall
profit. Consequently the Directors do not believe the forecasts are materially sensitive to changes in invesiment property
income,

Sensitivity of forecast interest costs to changes in interest rates

The Australand Property Group forecasted interest costs are not materially exposed to changes in interest rates because
interest expense relating to qualifying assets is capitalised and existing hedging arrangements are in place to minimise
any profit and loss impact of changes in interest rates. Consequently the Directors do not believe the forecast interest
costs are materially sensitive to changes in interest rates.

Sensitivity of forecasts to changes in cost of properties sold expense

Major Apartment division projects during the forecast period have either fixed price construction contracts or have been
subject to cost plan review. In the Land and Housing division, which typically has smaller stages, costs have historically
increased slightly less than or approximating CPI.

Consequently the Directors do not believe the forecasts are materially sensitive to changes in the cost of preperties sold
expense. Nevertheless an increase in the cost of properties sold expense of 1% would affect profit by $8 million after
tax for the year ending 31 December 2004,

AT ADDMTHIONAL FORBCARY INFORMATION
The following additicnal forecast information is provided to illustrate the impact on Australand Property Group for the
year ending 31 December 2004 if the Capital Raising is completed, but the Acquisition Propesal is not completed and

no AWPT3 Units are acquired.

The additional forecast information consists of an abbreviated statement of financial performance for the year ending
31 December 2004. In addition an abbreviated pro forma statement of financial position as at 1 January 2004 has been
presented to reflect the above scenario.

Australand Property Group Net Profit After Tax ($'000) 142959
EPS (cents) 183
DPFS (cents) 16.4

Total Assets ($'000) 2,008,153
Total Liebilities ($'000) (809,038)
Net Assets ($'000) 1,199,115
NTA per Stapled Security! $1.39
NOTES:

1 Net tangible assets attributable to Australand Property Groug.
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The Directors

Australand Holdings Limited
Level 3, 1C Homebush Bay Drive
Rhodes NSW 2138

The Directors

Australand Property Limited
Level 3, 1C Homebush Bay Drive
Rhodes NSW 2138

29 April 2004

Dear Sirs

INVESTHIATING SUUDTUNTANTS REPORY

fndraduction

This report has been prepared by KPMG Transaction Services (Australia) Pty Limited (*"KPMG Transaction Services”) for
inclusion in the prospectus and product disclosure statement (“Offer Document) to be dated on or about 29 April 2004,

and to be issued by Australand Heldings Limited (*Australand”) and Australand Property Limited (the responsible entity
of Australand Property Trust) (“Responsible Entity”) (together “Australand Property Group™).

Expressions defined in the Offer Document have the same meaning in this report,

EE% anon prot i Ky o
Finascial infornatian

KPMG Transaction Services has been requested to prepare a report covering the historical, pro forma historical and
forecast financial information described below and disclosed in the Offer Document.

Historical financial information

The historical financial information, as set cut in Sectien 3 of the Offer Document, comprises the:

» statement of financial performance of Australand Property Group for the year ended 31 December 2003;
* statement of cash flows of Australand Property Group for the year ended 31 December 2003;

» statement of financial position of Australand Property Group as at 31 December 2003; and

* selected notes to the financial statements.

The historical financial information set out in Section 3 of the Offer Document has been extracted from the financial
statements of Australand Property Group for the year ended 31 December 2003 and supporting accounting records.

The financial statements of Australand Property Group for the year ending 31 December 2003 were audited by KPMG
in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. The audit opinion issued to the members of Australand Property Group
relating to those financial statements was unqualified.

The Directors of Australand Property Group are responsible for the preparation and presentation of the historical
financial information.

The historical financial information is presented in an abbreviated form insofar as it does not include all of the disclesures
required by the Australian Accounting Standards applicable to annual financial reports prepared in accordance with the
Corporations Act 2001 (*Corporations Act”).
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Pro forma historical financial information

The pro forma historical financial infermation, as set out in Section 3 of the Offer Document, comprises the pro forma,
unaudited:

= statement of financial position of Australand Preperty Group as at 31 December 2003; and

* selected notes to the pro forma, unaudited financial statements.

The pro forma financial information has been derived from the historical financial information of Australand Property
Group and AWPT3 after adjusting for the transactions and adjustments described in Section 3.8 of the Offer Document.

The Directors are responsible for the preparation and presentation of the pro forma historical financial infoermation,
including the determination of the pro forma transactions and/or adjustments.

The pro forma historical financial infermation is presented in an abbreviated form insofar as it does not include all of
the disclosures required by the Australian Accounting Standards applicable to annual financial reports prepared in
accordance with the Corporations Act

Forecast financial information

The Directors’ Forecasts are set out in Section 3.4 of the Offer Document and comprise the forecast financial
performance of Australand Property Group for the year ending 31 December 2004 together with the assumptions on
which they are based, as set out in Section 3.7 of the Offer Document.

The APG Combired Forecast incorporates the forecast financial performance of AWPT3 which was prepared by the
directors of AWIL, the respensible entity of AWPT3.

The Directors are responsible for the preparation and presentation of the Directors’ Forecasts, including the best-
estimate assumptions on which the Directors’ Forecasts are based and the sensitivity of the Directors’ Forecasts to
changes in key assumptlions.

The Directors’ Forecasts have been prepared by the Directors to provide investors with a guide to Australand
Property Group’s potential future financial performance based upon the achievement of certain economic, operating,
developmental and trading assumptions about future events and actions that have not yet occurred and may not
necessarily occur. The Directors’ best-estimate assumptions underlying the Directors’ Forecasts are set out in Section
3.7 of the Offer Document.

There is a considerable degree of judgement involved in the preparation of any forecast Consequently, the actual results
of Australand Property Group during the forecast period may vary materially from the Directors’ Forecasts, and that
variation may be materially positive or negative.

The sensitivity of the Directors’ Forecasts to changes in key assumptions is set out in Section 3.11 of the Offer
Document and the risks to which the business of Australand Property Group is exposed are set out in Section b of the
Offer Document. Investors should consider the Directors’ Forecasts in conjunction with the analysis in those sections.

The Directors’ Forecasts are presented in an abbreviated form insofar as it does not include all of the disclosures
required by Australian Accounting Standards applicable to annual financial reports prepared in accordance with the
Corporations Act.

Seops

Review of historical financial information

As stated above KPMG have audited the historical financial information of Australand Property Group for the year ended
31 December 2003. For the purposes of this Offer Document, KPMG Transaction Services have reviewed this historical
financial infermation in order o report whether anything has come to our attention which causes us to believe that the
historical financial information, as set out in section 3 of the Offer Document has net been presented fairly in accordance
with the recognition and measurement principles prescribed in Accounting Standards and cother mandatory professional
reporting requirements, and accounting policies adopted by Australand Property Group.

Our review has been conducted in accordance with Australian Auditing Standard AUS 902 “Review of Financial Reports”™.

We made such enquiries and performed such procedures as we, in our professional judgement, considered reasonable in

the circumstances, including:

* a review of work papers, accounting records and other documents;

= a comparisen of consistency in application of the recognition and measurement principles in Accounting Standards
and other mandatory professional reperting requirements in Australia, and the accounting pelicies adopted by
Australand Property Group; and

* enquiry of directors, management and others.

The procedures do not provide all the evidence that would be required in an audit, thus the level of assurance provided is
less than given in an audit. We have net performed an audit and, accordingly, we do not express an audit opinion.
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Review of pro forma historical financial information
The pro forma historical financial information has been subject o the following audit or review procedures:

the historical information relating to Australand Property Group has been subject to an audit by KPMG and its
presentation in this Offer Document has been reviewed by KPMG Transaction Services;

the historical statement of financial position of AWPT3 has been subject to a review by PricewaterhouseCoopers
Securities Limited whe have issued an Investigating Accountant’s Report to the directors of Australand Wholesale
Investments Limited, which included a review opinion on the statement of financial position of AWPT3 as at 31
December 2003; and

the transactions and adjustments required to implement the Capital Raising and Acquisition Proposal and the
presentation of the pro forma financial infermation have been reviewed by KPMG Transaction Services.

We have reviewed this pro forma historical financial information in order to report whether anything has come to our
attention which causes us to believe that the pro forma historical financial information, as set out in Section 3 of the
Offer Document, has not been presented Tfairly:

on the basis of the pro forma transactions and/or adjustments; and

in accordance with the recognition and measurement principles prescribed in Accounting Standards and other
mandatory professional reporting requirements, and accounting policies adopted by Australand Property Group.

Our review has been conducted in accordance with Australian Auditing Standard AUS 902 “Review of Financial Reports”.
We made such enquiries and performed such procedures as we, in our professional judgement, considered reasonable in
the circumstances, including:

consideration of the audit repert and working papers, accounting records and other documents for the year ended 31
December 2003 in respect of Australand Property Group;

consideration of the Investigating Acceuntant’s Report and working papers in relation to the statement of financial
position of AWPT3 as at 31 December 2003 prepared by PricewaterhouseCoopers Securities Limited, accounting
records and other documents, including property valuations;

enquiries of Austreland Property Group management as to the process and assumptions used in preparing the pro
forma financial information;

a review of the transactions and adjustments made te the historical financial information in order to derive the pro
forma financial information;

a comparison of consistency in application of the recognition and measurement principles in Accounting Standards
and other mandatory professional repoerting requirements in Australia, and the accounting policies adopted by
Australand Property Group; and

enquiry of Directors, management and others.

The procedures do net provide all the evidence that would be required in an audit, thus the level of assurance provided is
less than given in an audit. We have not performed an audit and, accordingly, we do not express an audit epinion.

Review of Directors’ Forecasts and Directors’ best-estimate assumptions

We have reviewed the Directors’ Forecasts, set out in Section 3.4 of the Offer Document, and the Directors’ best-
estimate assumptions underlying the Directors’ Forecasts, set out in Section 3.7 of the Offer Document, in order to report
whether anything has come to our attention which causes us fo believe that:

the Directors’ best-estimate assumptions, when taken as a whole, do not provide reasonable grounds for the
preparation of the Directors’ Forecasts;

the Directors’ Forecasts are not properly compiled on the basis of the Directors’ best-estimate assumptions or
presented fairly in accordance with the recognition and measurement principles prescribed in Accounting Standards
and other mandatory professional reperting requirements in Australia, and the accounting policies adopted by
Australand Property Group; and

the Directors’ Forecasts themselves are unreasonable.

Our review has been conducted in accordance with Australian Auditing Standard AUS 802 “Review of Financial Reports”.
Our procedures consisted largely of enquiry and analytical procedures and included:

e review of the infermation underlying the assumptions, including feasibility studies, market trend analysis, past,
current and forecast development and sale rates, property valuations and information concerning forecast costs of
development, marketing, sale as well as general overhead expenses, interest and taxation;

enquiry of Australand Property Group management regarding the compilation of the forecast information and evidence
gathered to support assumptions having regard to project specific issues and to issues impacting the market generally;
an analysis of the forecast financial medel; and

such other inquiries and analytical review procedures as we consicered necessary.

The Directors’ Forecasts are also supported, to the extent relevant, by the following:

A

the valuations prepared by registered valuers in support of the carrying values of properties;

the PricewaterhouseCoopers Securities Ltd (‘PwC") review of the forecast financial information prepared in relation to
AWPT3 for the year ending 31 December 2004. PwC has issued an Investigating Accountant’s Report to the directors
of Australand Wholesale Investments Limited, which included a review opinion in relation to the forecast statements of
financial performance of AWPT3 for the year ending 31 December 2004; and
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* the tax opinion issued by Greenwoods & Freehills Pty Limited who have acted as tax acvisor in relation to the Capital
Raising.

KPMG Transaction Services has also considered this information in the compilation of this report.

KPMG Transaction Services has also been specifically responsible for reviewing the aggregation of the Australand
Property Group and AWPT3 ferecast financial information.

Our review of the Directors’ Forecasts and the Directors’ best-estimate assumptions is substantially less in scope than
an audit examination conducted in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. A review of this nature provides less
assurance than an audit. We have not performed an audit and we do not express an audit opinion on the Directors’
Forecasts or the Directors’ best-estimate assumptions.

Review siatemanis

Review statement on the historical financial information

Based on our review, which is not an audit, nothing has come 1o our attention which causes us to believe that the
historical financial information, as set out in Section 3 of the Offer Document, does not present fairly:

* the historical financial performance of Australand Property Group for the year ended 31 December 2003;

* the historical cash flows of Australand Property Group for the year ended 31 December 2003; and

* the historical statement of financial position of Australand Property Group as at 31 December 2003,

in accordance with the recognition and measurement principles prescribed in Accounting Standards and other mandatory
professional reporting requirements, and accounting policies adopted by Australand Property Group.

Review statement on the pro forma historical financial information

Based on our review, which is not an audit, nothing has come 1o our attention which causes us to believe that the pro

forma historical financial information, as set out in Section 3 of the Offer Document, has not been presented fairly:

* on the basis of the pro forma transactions and/or adjustments; and

= in accordance with the recognition and measurement principles prescribed in Accounting Standards and other
mandatory professional reporting requirements, and accounting policies adopted by Australand Property Group.

Review statement on the Directors’ Forecasts and the Directors’ best-estimate assumptions

Based on our review, which is not an audit, nothing has come to our attention which causes us to believe that:

* the Directors’ best-estimate assumptions, set out in Section 3.7 of the Offer Document, when taken as a whole, do not
provide reasonable grounds for the preparation of the Directors’ Forecasts;

* the Directors’ Forecasts, set out in Section 3.4 of the Offer Document, are not properly compiled on the basis of
the Directors’ best-estimate assumptions or presented fairly in accerdance with the recognition and measurement
principles prescribed in Accounting Standards and other mandatory professional reporting requirements in Australia,
and the accounting policies adopted by Australand Property Group; and

* the Directors’ Forecasts themselves are unreasconable.

The underlying assumptions are subject to significant uncertainties and contingencies, often outside the control of
Australand Property Group. If events do not occur as assumed, actual results achieved by Australand Property Group
may vary significantly from the Directors’ Forecasts. Accordingly, we do not confirm or guaraniee the achievement of the
Directors’ Forecasts, as future events, by their very nature, are not capable of independent substantiation.

Digeiosure of inleresis

KPMG Transaction Services does not have any interest in the outcome of this issue, other than in connection with

the preparation of this report and participation in due diligence procedures for which normal professional fees will be
received. The relationship between KPMG Transaction Services and KPMG is explained in the Financial Services Guide
set out in the appendix to this Offer Document. KPMG is the auditor of Australand Property Group and from time to time,

KPMG alse provides Australand Property Group with certain other professional services for which normal professional
fees are received. David C Nott, who is responsible for this report, is a partner of KPMG.

Ganeral asivios warning

This report has been prepared, and included in the Offer Decument, fo provide investors with general information only
and does not take into account the objectives, financial situation or needs of any specific investor. It is not intended to
take the place of professional advice and investors should not make specific investment decisions in reliance on the
infermation contained in this report. Before acting or relying on any information, an investor should consider whether it is
appropriate for their circumstances having regard to their objectives, financial situation or needs.

per

David C Nott
Director
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Greenwoods
& Freehills

28 ap| ZH)4 Chur ref SC.J6 a9f
Direct phone 9225 §Y57
Direct fax Q721 5877
Eamianl s e ek i oW,
Matterna 44755

Dos no QA1 0354

The Chrechars The Qirecices

Auslealand Propety Graoa Australand Haldngs Lemied
Level 3, 1C Homebush Bay Drive Lewval 3 1C Homebuzh Bay Dnwe
Rhodes MW 2138 Phedes BMSW 2138

Cwear Sirs

Independent Ausiralian Tax Qpinien

We hawve been instiructed by Australand Heldings Limited and Australand
Properly Limited {as respansible cntity of Auoaslealand Proparty Trust) o
prepare a summary ¢f the Australian income 1ax amnd QoIS and services
taw ["GSTT} izsues ansing fromn the halding of Stapled Socunbes, {of
inGlusion in the Acstcaland Property Group produc! disclosure statement
and prospectus dated on or about 23 April 20404 ("Ofer Cocument”).

The infamnaticn contained in this summary is of @ peneral natlure only and
does nol constilute @k advice. 1 has boen prepared 10 assist holdars of
Slapted Zecurities to undersland the Aursiralian tax consequences Nowing
lfom thoir holding of Sapled Sccuritics and, as scech, 13 wnitten as o
adodressead 1o them.

Investors  should  2aek  indapendant  prolazsianal  adwce  &n ha
consequences of their padicipation in the Capilal Raising, based on their
particurar circumstances.

all legislalive relerences are o the prowisions of the ncome Tax
Agzessmont Aot 1838 and o the provisions of the Jcome Tax
Aszassment Acl 1997 [each the "AL™), unless athemwise stated

Temms used i this opnion ar2, unless stated otherwise, defined in the
same way as they are in the Offer Drocument.

Thizs summary i based on the Ausgtralian income tax law and 55T laws
appheable a5 at tha date of this letter.

L L L L T e R LU I FUPL RPN e K S Y L B P I LN 1
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1 Tax Conziderations
1.1 Paeltion of Australand Propady Trust on AcauisRlon of AWPTI

The nat {laxabler moome of Australang Peoperty Trost will, unbess
Australand Froperty Trust is subject to Givision 68 or GG of Fart |1l of the
Arctl e sobject 10 tax in the hands of the unitholders who are prasently
entilled 1o thal incame in respect of a paricular income year.

Based un our review of lhe crtumstances surmognding the acquisition of
ANETS we are satisfied thal neithes Division 68 or 62 should apply in
respecl ol Ausirsland Propéerty Trust and accardingly, Australznd Prepedy
Trusgt will be subject to the ordinary “ows-through” trugt 1axing provisions of
Divesion B

The consequencas of Ims 10 the unitholders in Australand Propery Trost
are descnbed Lelow.

1.2 Fozittan of the holoers of Stapled Seculfling - Summary

In summary, and subect o our mare detziled comments below, 1he
Australian tax consequences of paticipating in the Capilal Raising and
therefera acquising funhar stapled sacorities in Australand Property Groug,
depend on whether,

. yau arg a resident or a non-resident of Australia; and

- you hald the Slapled Securilies on capilal or reyenue accgunt,

If you ara an Avstralian residaent taspayer, yoo will be lasahia:

. on your share of the net (taxable) income of Ausiraland Propery
Trast,

. on Ihe amaont of any dividend recerven friom Australand and any

imputatizn credits attached to the dividend;

. on any gain arising from the subsequent disposal of the Slapled
SeCUties.

If you are not an Sustralian resident, you will Bo tagable:

* on your sharg ol 1he net [laxable) ingome of Awstraland Propesty
Trust to the extant thal it i3 attribulable to source s in Australa;

r ¢n any gain arising from the subsequent disposal of the Share and
Unil rapresanting the Blapled Secorily if the Stapled Securilies ane
held by vou on revenue account and:

- are attnbutable to a "permanent establishment™ you have in
Auvstralia; or

. if yaU are a ressdent of 2 countny wath which Austraha has not
concluded a double 1ax trealy, the source of the gain is in
Ausirala; and

+ gn gny qgain ansing fram the subksequent dsposal of the Share and
Unit representing the Stapled Secanty 1 1he Maplad Securlies are
held by you on capital accoant and vou (Iggether wilh wour
associalest have held at least 10% of the Units andfor Shares

T ! 4 Aprl 206 page 2
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during the § yerrs preceding the disposal date, and you are not
cnbitied o doubls 1% wealy relict.

1.3 Ohwherahip of Slapied Securilisd - Senaral

Australian taxalion law reguires lhe components making up the Stapled
Securily are recogrised separafely, i, as a Unit in Ausirshand Property
Trust and a Share in Australand. Accordingly, a5 2 participant in 1he
Capital Raising you will;

’ acquire Stapled Securities comprising one Share in Australand
Hotdings Liribed 2nd ane Ll i Aostralandd Property Trost per
Siapled Sacurty,

. receive, gnd separzfely deal with the tax copsequences al,
distnbutions from Awsitaland Fropety Trust andioer deidends from
Ausiraland; andk

. when you disposc of the Stapled Socurifcs yow will have (o
separately consider the lax issues associated with 1he disposal of
the Units and the Shares.

There are ng immediate {ax consequences flawing ltom the acquizition of
Slapled Secunfes as a result of yoor participation in lhe Capilal Raising.
The tax consequences flow from e recest of Oisinbutions and the
disposal of Stapled Securilies which are descrbed in mare delail bebow.

AT IComa datntuiets faom ALsireland Propery Tros) — AuBiraia resigents

An an Agstralian resident Unithelder, you wll include in ygur assessalfle
income your share of the net (laxable) income of Australand Fioperty
Trust as ativisad by the Respansibla Entity in aach year of incoms.

¥ou must include in wour takable income each year fhe tasatla cormpanant
ol the Australand Property Trust distnbutions o which you sre entitlsd in
respoct of thal year owen i wou do ot receive them wohll after year and or
the distribitions are reinvesied.

Tha rale of tax applied will depend upen o the character of the income
received and your particular tax profile,

To the extent that a nel capilal gain is ingluded in Australand Property
Trust's nel (laxable) income, you will be regarded as having dorved a
capital gain equal 1o your propacticnate share of such net capilal gain.
Howewer, where discount capital geins treatment has been applied in
calealating the net capital gain al Australand Proparty Trust's laval, you
will initialy be required to gross-up the amount of The net capilal gain fie,
effectively, reverse the effcol of the discount). This s required in order that
the sppropriate GGT trealment may be applied in accordance with your
particular tax proble (&g with respocl 1o the application of any capilal
Igs3es and discount copital gans treaiment).

Whera the cash distributon fram Australand Properly Trus! exceeds he
taxable component of that distnbution, the excess will nol be immediate|
taxable but will {unless it relates o the diswidanon of & discolrnt capital
gain] reduce the COT cosl bate (amd potertially the cosl base of uniks
held on reyenue acopunt) of the units held by you (this excess i3 oflen
called e T1ax advantaged” comnponent of ha distnbulion). Once yoo

i w1 D0 AT 1A G By | =T =T ]
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exhaust your cost base, any ias advantaged distribution wll give gsc o an
immodiaic capisal gain.
.07  incoyte deefbai o0 ow Autraland Fregeerty Teost = non re s enfs

As an non-resident Unitholder, your assessable income will include your
gshare of the not (laxable) income of Avstraland Proparty Trust a5 advised
by Ihe Respansiiie Enbty in each yesr of income. This will consist of so
much of your share of the nel {taxablo) incoma of Austratand Propery
Trust A5 s attnbutatle o saurces in Australia,

The Recponsible Entity may be required 1o wilhhold tax in respect of fhe
taxable component of distributions madse to you at rates presenbed by tha
Australian tax legislabion (A% amended by any applicable double bax
treaty]

You are then required ta lgdge an Ausiralian ingome tax relum in which
you repar any Australian sourced laxable mcome and, subecl to a credit
for tax paid by the trustoe, pay any applcable Ausiralian tas

Similar 1z the position outlingd at 2.1 above, tax advaniaged distrbutions
mads by Ausiratant Proparty Trust wall reduce the CGT cost base of the
Linils held by vou. This will only be relevant if any qain you reahsa on Lhe
subsequent disposal of Ihe Umits will bea subjact o Australan taxirefar 3.3
ard 3.4 belpw).

123 Bwidends from dousiralamd - Ausiraiian residanls

A3 an Apstralian resident Shareholder, yoo weall inglude in your assessable
mcome the ampunt of any dividend peid by Australand and any impuotation
credits atached 1o fhe dividend cven f e dividends are reinvested
Honwewar, vor will be entilled to 3 tax offsel in respect of any imputation
credits included in your assessable income if you satisfy the redquasile
condibicn s,

Broadly, to be elgble for tha imputabion credit and tax ofiset, you must
have held the Shares at risk for at least 45 days. This rolc will net apaly 1o
wou if you are an ndividual whose 1ax offsel enhitlement does not excesd
56,000 far the income year.

Where wou are an madhividudl, complying soperannuakion fund or a
raqislered charty (in cedain circumstances)y, you will be entitled to a
refund to the extent thal e imputation credits altached 1o your dividends
axtaed yous tax fiatulily for the income year,

Where you are a corporale Shareholder, any franked dividends you
receive will give fise to a impuotatizn credit in pour franking ascount

L4 [hivdends om Auslraland — non-raodenls

Ax a non-resident sharehider, dividends you receive will not be subject to
Australign income 1ax.  Howeever, Avstraland will be required to withhald
tax from any uniranked dividends (er part thepeofp paid to you. The lax
withheld will, in tha absence of 3 double Ay theaty, be aqual 1o 0% &f the
gross bnfranked deadends paid. Thes rale will ba reduced where you sre a
razident af a country with whigh Ausiralia has concluded a double tas
treaty,

Conrr A 17 10 ay hprl G paga o
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Oraidend withhaliding lzx will be the only Austrahan tax payable by you in
respett of onfranked divwdends. Franked dividends paid by Ausiraland o
pou wall reot be sobjeel o dividend withholding lax or Auslralian neomea
famx.

1.4 Oispozal of Stapled Securlias

Where a Stapled Secdnty 13 disposed of, iLwill have 15 be accounted for
as the disposal of & WUnit in Ausiraland Property Trust and @ Share in
Australand.

TJI T Acsirdin rosd el (regapers - Sy Socoribes besd or cppfin oo
Upon disposal of 3 3tapled Secunby, you will reslise a capital gain if:

. the porien of the censideralion reaserably akinbutable to the Linit
exceeds the CGT cosl base of the Unit, andfor

¥ e ponion of the cansikderation reascnably attnbutable Lo the Sharc
cxcecds the CGT cost base of the Share.

In brogd Yems, the CGT cost base for wour Unet and Share as the amount
you faid fos them {incloding incidental eosts of acquisition and disposal).

In the case of your Units, as outlingd at paragraph 2.1 abave, the cost
bage will be: reduged by any lax advantaged disiritutions,

You will have o delenmine the bacs of appedicnment @f fhe sale
protceeds across the individual Units and Shares.  [nloimatkan to assist
you 12 apportion the consderation acnss ha components of a Stapled
Security will ke provided by Australand Progey Group on a regular basis.

The taxable amount of (he capital gain may be reduced #f cetain CGT
concessions apply.

It you are an individual gr @ rustee and you have held your Shares or
Units for at least 12 months prioe 1o 1ha gata of ther disposal, you may
choose lg reduce |he amount of your capilal gain by either the CGT
discount ar allernatively for Sharcs acquired {or deemen 1 have bean
acguired) befpre 21 Z3eplember 1999, you may calculate the capital gain
using an indexed CGT cost base [indexapon will only be avairabla up 10 30
Scptombeer 1985),

If you choose the CGT discount method, your tasable captal gaim will be
redfuced by one-halt (gr ane-third it you are tustee of a complying
superannuatkon fund, approved deposit fund or pocled supsaranmnoation
fund).

If w0l afa 8 campany, wou will Be saillad to indes the CGT cost base (but
not the reduced cost base) of each share up W M Soptember 19939 but
canndt efect [0 apply he discount capital gam melhod. Indexalion will nod
be availaMe lgr Shares thatl were acquired by you after 21 September
16559,

JERT L e L iR T S T aped A P 3
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14,2 Auskabar rosaer! lavpayers - Shaghed Securdias he'd on Jevanss acaconl

Upon dispasal of a Stapied Seconty, vou will realise @ gan if the portion of
the consuderalion yau receive. reascnably attibutable ta the Unit and the
Share, cxcoods the amourt wou paid for the respective Unil fadjusted
where necessary for lax advanlaged distribulions which wou have
received) and Share,

If you make a loss. it will be tax deduclible znd may be ofzel against your
assestabla ncoame.

T3 Noe. musden Keneres o St Geeunfics B9 an capla acracar

If you {together with your associates] hawve held [a1 31l fimes during the 3
years preceding the Sata of dizposal) at least 103G of the Units and Shares
on issue. you will be taxed an any gain derived Trom their disposal, excepl
WhLr wou are a resident of 8 oountry wath which Sustvala has concludad
a double tax trealy, in which case you may be enfiled 1o relief from
Australian \ax pursuant 1o ihe terms of he treaty.

If Irealy relief is not available, yau may he eligible for the CGT discount or
indexation as described abave for Australizn resident taxkpayvers.

F.4.4  Mon- resabant faxpapans - Shapiad Securhes NeRT 0N fEve e AcCoe

Where you arg a ressfent of a country with which Australia has concluded
a double 1ax frealy, any gain you derive on the disposal of the Slaplad
Socunties will be subjecl o Australian tax if they are atdbutable to a
permaneznt eslablishment you have in Australia.

Where vou are a resident of 8 non-treaty couniry, any gain you denve on
the disposal of the Stapted Socorities will be sobject 1o Ausiralan lax only
if the source of YEHIT gain is in Ausiralia

2 Goods and Sarvices Tax {"G8T"]

Mo 5T should be payable im respect of the acquisiicn of MNow Stapled
Sceontics,  As the Capial Baizing ad 1ha acqueslion of AWPTE bath
invplve dealings with Units and Shares, the various supplies will te inpul
taxed {ie ool subject to GET).

There may be an indirect G5T cost a5 input 1ax credits will generally not
be available for GST charged 10 the acqurar in respect of supplies relaling
to the dealings with these unils [eg legal and olher adviser fees).

3 Other 1s5ues

Haotders of Slapled Securities mosi generally netify the [ssucrs of their
Avstraban Tax Fila Numbar {or Australan Business Mamber of (he Slapled
Securlies  are held by the hatder in the course of caimying on an
cnterprizc).  If the required nolifications arg not pronded, lax will be
deducied from distribuons made by Awsiraland Propeny Trast or
Australand in the case of unfranked dividends, at tha highest marginal tax
rae plos Medicare tevy. The rate of withhalding will be 48,5% of 1he
payment.  Howewer, holders will be entilled to claim an inoome tax
creditrefund (as applcable) in resooct of the tax withheld i theie incame
Lax raturns.
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Yours Taithiully
GREEMWOODS & FREEHILLS PTY LIMITED

Simon Clark
Chroc1eer
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Investors should be aware that the market price of Stapled Securities and the future Distributions made to
Securityholders will be influenced by a number of factors that are commen to most listed investments. At any point in
time, these may include:

» the Australian and international economic outlook;

* movements in the general level of prices on intemational and local stock markets;

* changes in economic conditions including inflation and interest rates; and

* changes in Govemment fiscal, monetary and regulatory policies.

52 PRIMARY BUSINESS RISKS
Securityholders will be exposed to risks associated with Australand Property Group’s business activities. The price at

which Stapled Securities will trade on ASX or SGX will be affected by the stock market paricipants’ view of these risks.
These risks include:

Property market — Australand Property Group earnings are subject fo property market conditions. Increases in supply
or falls in demand in any of the sectors of the property market in which Australand Property Group operates or invests
could influence the acquisition of sites, the timing and value of Australand Property Group's sales and the carrying value
of projects and inceme producing assets and this could affect earnings.

Market sentiment may be influenced by media commentary and observations by industry analysts. Market sentiment has
e significant influence on the confidence of Australand Property Group’s clients and their propensity o buy residential
properties. Perception may have a larger short term influence on project enquiry levels and rates of sale than medium
term factors such as the likelihood of oversupply or undersupply in some market segments. Although project rates of
sale may not have a significant influence on the profitability of individual projects in the medium/long term, a decline

in market sentiment, which reduces rates of sale, could adversely influence the amount of profit that can be brought to
account in a particular financial period.

Land values — Unanticipated factors affecting the value of land or development costs, including environmental issues,
native title claims, land resumptions and major infrastructure developments might impact on future earnings.

Property values — Unanticipated factors influencing the value of investment property or the realisable value of

development trading stock of Australand Property Group, such as those listed below, could impact on future earnings:

* The capitalisation rates that are considered appropriate by professional valuers, for the income producing properties
held by Australand Property Group, in response to changes in market conditions.

» Changes in the conditions of town planning consents applicable to Australand Property Group projects, as a
conseguence of the unpredictable nature of council policies.

* Variances in the cost of development as a consequence of the imposition of levies by state and local government agencies.

* The presence of previously unidentified threatened flora and fauna species, which may influence the amount of
developable land on major projects.

* The activities of resident action groups.

= Native title claims.

* Land resumptions for reads and major infrastructure, which cannot be adeguately offset by the amount of
compensation eventually paid.

Interest rates — Increases in interest rates could have the effect of reducing the availability or increasing the cost
of finance for the purchase of properties by Australand Property Group's customers. Interest rates also impact on
Australand Property Group’s cost of funds. As at 31 December 2003 Australand Property Group had entered into
interest rate hedge contracts in respect of 88% of its current debt.

Funding — Changes in the availability and cost of current and future borrowings will impact on Australand Property
Group's earnings.

Inflation and construction costs — Higher than expected inflation rates generally or specific to the building industry
could be expected to increase operating costs and develepment costs. These cost increases may be offset by increased
selling prices or rents.

Environmental — The discovery of, or incorrect assessment of costs associated with, environmental contamination
on any of Australand Property Group's projects could have an adverse effect on the profitability and timing of receipt
of revenue from that project. Australand Property Group’s policy is to undertake environmental due diligence on any
property before acquisition.

Climatic conditions - Prolonged adverse weather conditions may result in delays in construction and marketing and
possibly deferral of revenue and profit recognition.

Industrial disputes - Industrial disputes which affect the supplies of building materials, sub-contractors and
independent builders engaged to undertake construction on Australand Property Group development sites may impact
on Australand Property Group’s earnings.
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Regulatory risk — Changes in government and local government regulations and policies (including government land
development, public housing and first home-buyer assistance and tenancy laws) and delays in the granting of approvals
or the registration of subdivision plans may affect the amount and timing of Australand Property Group's future profits.

Taxation — Changes in income tax, GST or stamp duty legislation or other state or federal tax legislation or policy,
particularly in regard to residential housing, property development activity and investment in income producing property
may adversely affect Australand Property Group’s profit. Any removal of the concessions for individuals in respect

of capital gains tax or relating fo negative gearing of income producing properties could have an adverse effect on
Australand Property Group's sales or the value of its investments.

Human resources — The loss of key management personnel who have particular expertise in property development,
construction, marketing of investment properties or management may influence future earnings.

Accounting standards — Changes to Australian Accounting Standards could affect Australand Property Group's
reported earnings performance in any given period and its financial position from time to time.

Tenant solvency — Insclvency or financial distress of tenants of Australand Property Group’s income producing
properties may reduce the income received by Australand Property Group from such assets.

Rental market — Changes in market conditions for rental properties, including vacancy rates, incentive levels and rental
rates may impact on the income received from Australand Property Group’s income producing assets.

NSW Mini Budget implications — The NSW Treasurer recently announced a number of new taxation measures to
apply in NSW, including increasing stamp duty rates to a maximum marginal rate of 7%, the introduction of a 2.25% tax
on the vendor of certain types of property and changes to the imposition of land tax. Drafts of the legislation relating to
these announcements have not been made public yet. These announcements may have a negative impact both on the
cost of Australand Property Group’s business and on the general market sentiment applying to property markets in NSW,
particularly the property investor market. The likely impact on Australand Property Group cannet be assessed at this
stage.

Rental Guarantees — Australand has given rental guarantees in connection with & number of properties developed
and sold by it, particularly commercial office properties in Sydney and Melbourne. Whilst Australand Property Group has
made contingency provisions in its forecasts for its forecast exposure under these guarantees based on its assessment
of the rental demand for the properties in question, it is possible that the market conditions will deteriorate, or that for
other reasons any of the relevant properties will not be leased at the rentals or within the period assumed in calculating
the relevant contingency provisions. This may result in expenses being incurred by Australand Property Group in excess
of the relevant contingency preportions that have been made by Australand Property Group, which may have a material
negative impact on future earnings of Australand Property Group.

B3 OTHER SHENIFITANT RISKR

The future performance of Australand Property Group, including Distributions, asset valuations and the market value of

Stapled Securities quoted on ASX and SGX, may be influenced by a range of factors outside the contrel of the Issuers

or their Directors. Although the Directors have endeavoured to ensure that the assumptions made in the preparation of

the Forecasts are reascenable, there are a number of risk factors that may impact on the achievement of the Director’s

Forecasts. These risks include, in addition 1o those set out ebove:

= Movements in the Australian and international stock markets and changes in economic conditions or in interest rates
that may affect prices at which quoted securities are fraded. Investors should be aware that there are risks associated
with any investment in securities and that the prices of securities can move down as well as up.

* Changes in the stock market rating of the Stapled Securities relative to other quoted securities, especially these of
other property trusts.

* Changes in laws and government policy, including relevant accounting standards and tax laws, that may affect
future eamings and the attractiveness of investment in the Stapled Securities. Changes in accounting standards are
foreshadowed and these are expected to impact Australand Property Group.

= Delivery risks such as prolenged adverse weather, industrial disputes and labour, contractor and material shortages.

* Changes to the availability of berrowings and the interest rates required by lenders may result in Australand Property
Group paying interest rates greater than those assumed in the Director's Forecast, thereby impacting Distributions.

* Increased supply of new commercial and industrial buildings may affect the ability to secure a sale of any investment
property, lease renewals or obtain replacement tenants and increase the time required to let vacant space.

* Australand Property Group may become involved in unforeseen litigation.

= War or terrorist attacks may occur and insurance cover may not be available to cover Australand Property Group
properly and developments for such attacks.

* A reduction in market prices for established residential housing, which may reduce the value realised by customers
from the sale of their property and affect their capacity to purchase residential land and completed houses. This could
be expected to be reflected in reduced rates of sale and lower selling prices for Australand Property Group’s products.
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» Competitive pressure forcing lower sale prices for land and houses in the estates or delays in the timing of such sales.
In addition o the impact on annuel sales, any downward changes in prices for residential land and new housing may
also be reflected in changes in the valuation of Australand Property Group’s land holdings with consequential effects
on its reported profits.

* The emergence of an oversupply of developed land, new and/or established houses, commercial office space and
industrial premises, in the market segments in which Australand Property Group operates. This could result in slower
rates of sale and a possible reduction in selling prices for Australand Property Group’s projects, lower rentals and
possible reductions in carrying the value of assets.

» Changes in community attitudes and preferences reducing demand for housing products of the type offered by
Australand Property Group in the locations in which Australand Property Group has land holdings.

* Inability to acquire land to the extent that new projects are not secured over the next two years at rates of return
comparable to those earned on current projects, which could result in profits in years subsegquent o the forecast
period being reduced.

* Delays in the registration of subdivision plans to the extent that sales may not be able to be brought to account in the
same period in which construction and marketing of a project has been undertaken. This may result in reportable profit
for a particular financial period being lewer and the transfer of the profit variance to a subsequent financial period.

» Changes in government policy affecting either the operation of government owned land development and public
housing authorities or pelicies relating to the levels of assistance to first heme buyers, immigration or foreign
ownership of residential housing.

* Unanticipated factors unfavourably affecting the value of land or development costs including environmental, native
title claims, land resumptions or major infrastructure developments (e.g. airport or motorway).

None of the Issuers or the Directors guarantee the achievement of the financial forecasts and therefore investors are
advised to review the assumptions and financial forecasts to determine their own view on the future performance of
Australand Property Group.
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£ SUMMARY OF AUSTRALAND CONBTITUTION
The Australand Constitution contains the internal rules of Australand. K deals with matters such as the rights, duties and

powers of Shareholders and directors of Australand. The main provisions of the Australand Constitution are summarised
below.

(a) Share capital: Each Share is stapled to a Unit to form a Stapled Security. Until unstapled, the Directors must not
cause a Share to cease being a Stapled Security.

(b) Issue of further Shares: The Directors may issue shares on such terms as they decide provided that the
Responsible Entity issues an identical number of Units to the same person at the same time. When issued, a Share
will immediately be stapled to a Unit to form a Stapled Security and will remain so stapled for so long as the Shares
remain on issue unless otherwise determined by resolutions of Securitynolders. Australand may also issue preference
shares.

(c) Stapling: No provision of the Australand Constitution which relates to or is connected with stapling or Stapled
Securities may be amended without the approval of Unitheolders. While stapling applies, the number of issued Shares
must equal the number of issued "Attached Securities” of each category at that time. The only Attached Security
currently contemplated is a Unit

(d) Transfer of Shares: A Share may only be transferred if the transfer is accompanied by a transfer of the Unit to
which the Share is stapled, in favour of the same transferee. The Shares may be transferred in the case of CHESS
Approved Securities in accordance with the CHESS Rules or by written transfer in the usual form, or by any other
method of transfer of marketable securities which is recognised by the Corperations Act, SGX, ASX and is approved
by the Directors. The Directors may decline to register a transfer of Shares where the transfer is not in registrable
form, or where Australand is permitted fo do so under the Listing Rules or the Australand Constitution.

(e) Register: A Stapled Securities register must be maintained, which records details of all Stapled Securities held by
Securityholders,

(f) General meetings of Australand: Notice of a general meeting of Australand must be given in accordance
with the Cerporations Act. The Directors must convene a meeting on the written request of not less than 100
Shareholders or Shareholders who together are entitled to not less than 5% of the total voting rights of all
Shareholders.

(g) Proxy: Any Shareholder may be represented at any meeting of Australand by a proxy or attorney. The executed
proxy form must be received by Australand no less than 48 hours before the time for helding the meeting as is
specified in the notice convening the meeting.

(h) Quorum: A guorum of the general meeting of Shareholders is constituted by two Shareholders present in person or
by proxy, atlorney or representative.

(iy Voting: Subject to any rights of any shares or class of shares, each Shareholder is entitled to attend and vote at a
general meeting of Australand. Any reselution being considered at a general meeting is decided on a show of hands
unless a poll is demanded. On a show of hands, each Shareholder present (in person and each other person present
as a proxy, attorney or a representative of an Sharehelder) has one vote. On a poll, each Shareholder (in persen and
each other person present as a proxy, atiorney or a representative of an Shareholder) has one vote for each fully
paid Share.

(). Number of Directors: The minimum number of Directors is three. The actual number of Directors is 1o be fixed by
the Directors but may not be more than 15,

(k) Appointment and retirement of Directors: At every annual general meeting of Australand, one third of the
Directors {excluding the Managing Director or any Director appointed within the last year who is standing for
election) must retire from office. If the number is not three or a multiple of three, then the number nearest one-third
and any other Director who has held office for three years or more since last being elected, must retire from office.
The Directors may appoint a person as a Director, either in addition to the existing Directors or to fill a casual
vacancy, so long as this appeintment does not bring the number of Directors in excess of the maximum. A Director
appointed in this way (who is not a Managing Director) holds office only until the next annual general meeting
following his or her appointment.

() Removal of Director: Shareholders can by resolution remove any Director and appoint another person as a
replacement. Australand may at a general meeting called for that purpose remove a Director by a reselution of
members.

(m) Directors’ remuneration: The Directors are entitled 1o be remunerated for their services as Directors. The total
amount or value of the remuneration must not exceed the sum determined from time to time by Australand in general
meeting. The remuneration is to be divided among the Directers in the proportion and manner agreed between them
or, in default of agreement, equally.

This article dees not apply to the remuneration of a Managing Director or an executive Director in either capacity.
The Directors’ remuneration accrues from day to day.

A Directer is also entitled to be reimbursed out of the funds of Australand for the reasenable travelling,
accommodation and other expenses the Director may incur when travelling to or from meetings of the Directors or a
committee of Directors or when otherwise engaged on the business of Australand.

The remuneration of a Managing Director or an executive Director may be fixed by the Directors by way of salary,
commission or participation in profits or by all or any of those modes, but may not be by a commission on or
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percentage of operating revenue.
An alternate Director is not entitled to receive from Australand any remuneration or benefit.

(n) Insurance and indemnity: Australand may indemnify every Director or executive officer on a full indemnity basis,
to the full extent permitted by law, for all losses or liabilties incurred as an officer of Australand or a related body
corporate. Australand may (fo the full extent permitted by law) purchase and maintain insurance for liability incurred
as an officer of Australand.

(o) Dividends: The Directors may pay dividends, including interim dividends, which appear to the Directors to be
justified by the financial pesition of Australand. Interest is not payable on any dividend.

(p) Election to reinvest dividends: The Directors may grant to Shareholders or a class of Shareholders the right to

elect to reinvest cash dividends paid by Australand by subscribing for Shares on the terms the Directors think fit.

While Shares are Stapled Securities, the Directors may grant such a right only if at the same time an offer to issue

an identical number of Attached Securities to those persons has been made.

Capitalisation of profits: The Directors may capitalise any sum applied for the benefit of Shareholders in the

proportions to which those Shareholders would have been entitled in distribution of that sum by way of dividend.

(7 winding up: With the sanction of a special resolution, the liquidator may divide among the Shareholders the whole
or any part of Australand's property and decide how the division is to be carried out.

(s) Restricted securities: Restricted securities cannot be disposed of during an escrow period except as permitted by
the Listing Rules or the ASX.

(t) Small holdings: The Directors may sell or redeem any Shares held by an Shareholder which comprise less than
a marketable parcel without request by the Shareholder. Australand must give the Shareholder seven days notice
of this intention to sell or redeem in which time the Shareholder can advise Australand that it wishes to retain the
Shares.

-

(g

While stapling applies, at the same time as Shares are redeemed or sold, an identical number of Attached Securities
must also be redeemed or sold.
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Australand Property Trust is a registered managed investment scheme and Australand Property Limited is the
Responsible Entity of Australand Property Trust The main rules goveming the operation of Australand Property Trust
are set out in the APT Constitution. The Corporations Act, exemptions and declarations given by ASIC, the Listing Rules
(subject to waivers) and the general law of frusis are also relevant to the rights and obligations of the Responsible Entity
and of Securityholders and holders of options to acquire Stapled Securities (in this section referred to as “members”).

The main provisions of the APT Constitution that deal with the rights and obligations of members are:

= Units: A fully paid Unit confers an equal undivided interest in Australand Property Trust's assets. The APT Censtitution
contemplates the issue of partly paid Units.

= Stapling: The AFPT Constitution provides for the stapling of one Unit in Australand Property Trust to one Share, with
the intention that they be treated as a single security.

* Income: Subject to the terms of issue of particular Units, Unitholders are entitled to a share in Australand Property
Trust's income propoertionate to their paid up Unit holding. Unless otherwise determined by the Responsible Entity
and subject to certain adjustments, the distributable income of Australand Property Trust is the operating income plus
any additional amount as determined by the Responsible Entity. Unless distributions are required to be reinvested, the
Responsible Entity will pay them within two months of the end of the relevant period. Distributions must be at least
annual, but are expected to occur quarterly.

= Transfer: Units may only be transferred as part of Stapled Securities. Any Stapled Securities classified as “restricted
securities” under the Listing Rules may not be transferred during the escrow period.

* No redemption: There is no right to redeem Units in Australand Property Trust.

* Winding up: If Australand Property Trust is wound up, Unitholders are entitled to receive a share of the value of the
trust assets proportionate to their paid up Unit holding. The {rust will continue for 80 years, unless the Responsible
Entity notifies members of earlier termination or the law requires.

* Members’ liability: Unless a Unitholder incurs “user pays® fees or makes a separate agreement with the Respensible
Entity, their liability is limited under the APT Constitution to the amount paid or payable for their Units. User pays
fees include tax or expenses that the Responsible Entity incurs as a result of a particular Unitholder's request, act or
omission,

* Meeting: A Unitholder's right to requisition, attend and vote at meetings are mosily prescribed by the Cerporations
Act. The APT Constitution provides that the quorum for a meeting is normally two members. It allows meetings by
electronic means including telephone. Meetings may be held in conjunction with those for Australand.

The APT Constitution also deals with the powers, duties and liability of the Responsible Entity as responsible entity:

* Powers: The Responsible Entity has powers to invest, borrow and generally manage Australand Property Trust subject
to Australand Property Trust’s principal investment policy, which is to invest directly or indirectly in real property.
The policy may be changed on reasonable notice to members. The Responsible Entity’s contracting powers include
providing any guarantee, security, indemnities and undertakings in connection with the obligations and liabilities of a
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person, whether or not that person is a member of Australand Property Group. The Responsible Entity also has power
to issue Units and options over Units on such terms as it determines.

* Duties: The Responsible Entity's duties as respensible entity are mainly contained in the Corporations Act In carrying
out its duties and exercising its powers, it may have regard to the interests of the helders of the Shares as well as the
Unitholders.

* Rights: The Responsible Entity may recover out of Australand Property Trust's assets expenses properly incurred in
the operations of Australand Property Trust The APT Constitution also authorises the Responsible Entity to charge
fees up to the following maximum levels: an application fee of 2% of application monies, an acquisition fee of 1.56%
of the value of properties acquired for the trust and a management fee equal to the Responsible Entity’s reasonable
estimate of its costs including all overheads, whether incurred directly or indirectly. If the Responsible Entity becomes
liable to pay GST in respect of suppliers connected with Australand Property Trust, then it is entitled to be paid
an additional amount on account of this. The management fee is payable from time o time upon demand by the
Responsible Entity, and the Responsible Entity must produce a guarterly statement of the management fee. It may
accept lower fees than it is entitied te receive.

* The Responsible Entity may also:

— take and act upon advice from professionals;

— value the assets of the trust at any time (at market value unless it determines otherwise);

— hold Units in Australand Property Trust in any capacity, contract with itself, Australand or any associate and may be
interested in such contract;

— retire as responsible entity (but only if unitholders have approved a replacement); and

— amend the APT Constitution, but only with Unitholders’ approval, unless the change will not adversely affect
Unitholders’ rights.

= Liability: The Responsible Entity is not liable in contract, tort or otherwise to Unitholders for any less suffered relating
to Australand Property Trust except to the extent that the Corporations Act imposes such liability. The Responsible
Entity is entitled to be indemnified out of Australand Properly Trust's assets for any liability it incurs in properly
performing or exercising any of its duties or powers in relation to Australand Property Trust.

IRhess parios of Shaves and Units
The issue price of Shares and Units will be determined in accordance with the relevant provisions of the APT
Constitution.

the relationship between the Respensible Entity and Australand in respect of the Units and the Shares that comprise the

Stapled Securities. The aspects of that relationship with which it deals include the following:

= Stapling: The Units and Shares will remain stapled unless a special resolution of Securityholders approve unstapling.

= Cooperation and consultation: The Responsible Entity and Australand agree to share accounting and other
information, and o cooperate in operating Australand Property Trust and Australand in providing informatien to
investors, valuing assets, preparing accounts, holding meetings, issuing securities and making distributions.

= Dealings in Stapled Securities: Units and Shares may only be issued or transferred as part of Australand Property
Group Stapled Securities.

= Acquisitions, disposals and borrowings: These require consultation procedures between the Responsible Entity
and Australand to be followed.

= Financial benefits: The Responsible Entity and Australand agree to enter into or procure that any subsidiary enter
into any agreement, document or arrangement or do any act at the direction of the other in respect of any financing
facility or financial accommodation affecting any person, whether or not that person is a member of Australand
Property Group.

= Allocation of issue price: The Responsible Entity and Australand must agree on the proportion of the issue price of
a Stapled Security to be allocated to each of Australand Property Trust and Australand. Generally, this is by reference
to the net assets of each entity, adjusted for the net market value of their investments.

* Registers: Ausiraland’s register of Shareholders and Australand Property Trust's register of Unitholders are to be kept
jointly.

= Duties: When carrying out their duties, the Responsible Entity and Australand may consider the interests of holders
of Stapled Securities as a whole, not only the interests of the members of Australand Property Trust and Australand
separately.

* Dispute resolution: If there are disagreements about stapling issues, the Responsible Entity and Australand must
use their best efforts to resolve them and negotiate in good faith before instituting proceedings.

G4 CONTINUGUS DISTLOSLIRE A0 SORIES OF DOCUMENTS

Australand and Australand Property Trust are both “disclosing entities” under the Corporations Act and are subject to
regular reporting and disclosure obligations under the Corperations Act and the Listing Rules, including the preparation of
annual reports and half yearly reports. The most recently lodged annual report before the date of this Offer Document is
the 2003 Annual Report for the year ended 31 December 2003.
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Australand Property Group is required to notify ASX of information about specific events and matters as they arise for
the purposes of ASX making that information available to the stock markets conducted by ASX. In particular, Australand
and Australand Property Trust have obligations under the Listing Rules (subject to certain exceptions) to notify ASX
immediately of any information of which it is or becomes aware which & reasonable person would expect to have a
material effect on the price or value of Stapled Securities. That information is available to the public from ASX or from
ASIC. Copies of documents lodged with ASIC in relation to Australand Property Group may be obtained from ASX or
from ASIC, or inspected at an ASIC office.

The following documents are available for inspection at the offices of Australand Property Group between 9.00am and
5.00pm on business days and a copy may be requested to be provided, free of charge:

= 2003 Annual Report

» Australand Censtitution

= APT Constitution

= Stapling Deed

* Rules of the DRP

* Rules of the Australand Property Group share option plan

= Any continuous disclosure notice lodged by Australand Property Group with ASX since the lodgement of the 2003
Annual Report
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NDUERWRITING &
The Issuers {(each an Issuer, and together the Issuers) have entered into an Underwriting Agreement in relation to the
Capital Raising with UBS AG, Australia Branch and Goldman Sachs JBWere Pty Ltd {(each an “Underwriter® and together
the “Underwriters®). Under the Underwriting Agreement, each Underwriter has agreed o underwrite subscriptions for
50% of the approximately $94 million raised which is not to be subscribed for by Capitaland through its subsidiaries
(the “Underwritten Amount™). The Underwriters also agree to manage the Capital Raising and assist the Issuers in the
successful conduct of the Capital Raising.

The ebligations of the Underwriters to underwrite subscriptions for the Underwritten Amount are conditional on the
Issuers receiving a binding written commitment from CapitalLand prior to the lodgment of this Offer Document with
ASIC that the Capital and Entities will subscribe for the Capitaland Amount by the Institutional Settlement Time on the
Institutional Settlement Date.

An Underwriter may terminate its obligations under the Underwriting Agreement by giving written notice to the Issuers if

one or more of the following events occurs:

= either the S&RP/ASX 200 Index or the S&P/ASX 200 Property Index closes on 2 consecutive business days, or closes
on a day which is 2 businesss days before the Final Allotment Date, at a level which is 10% or more below its level as
at the close of business on the business day prior to the date of the Underwriting Agreement;

= this Offer Document omits any material required under the Corporations Act or contains a statement which is
misleading or deceplive;

= ASIC issues a stop order or takes similar action;

* an application is made by ASIC for an order under Part 9.5 of the Corperations Act in relation to this Offer Document
or ASIC commences any investigation or hearing under Part 3 of the Australian Securities and Investment Commission
Act 1989 (Cth) in relation to this Offer Document;

= a supplementary offer document is required, or in the reascnable opinion of an Underwriter, is required;

= certification required from the Issuers is not provided or is untrue or incorrect in a material respect;

* there is a material adverse change in the financial position, results of operations or prespects of Australand, the
Responsible Entity or Australand Property Trust;

* any person whose consent to this Offer Document is required by the Corporations Act refuses to consent or withdraws
their consent;

* this Offer Document or any part of the Offer is withdrawn;

= there is a general moratorium or material disruption in commercial banking activities or security settlement or clearance
services in Australia, the United Kingdom or the United States of America for twe consecutive business days;

* suspension of trading in the Stapled Securities on ASX or cessation of the ASX;

* any event specified in the Underwriting Agreement timetable is delayed for more than 3 business days without the
prior approval of the Underwriters;

* breach of the Underwriting Agreement by either Issuer; and

* Capitaland fails to give a binding written commitment to the Issuers prior to lodgment of this Offer Document or
it indicates at any time that it dees not propose to subscribe the CapitalLand Amount pursuant to the Offer by the
Institutional Settlement Time on the Institutional Settlement Date.

An Underwriter may also terminate its obligations by netice in writing to the Issuers if any of the following events occur

and, in the reasonable opinion of the Underwriter that event has (or is likely to have) a material adverse effect on the

financial condition, position or prospects of the Issuers or Australand Property Trust and their subsidiaries taken as

a whole (taking into account the Acquisition Proposal), the market price of the Stapled Securities or the success of

the Capital Raising or could give rise to a contravention by the Underwriter (or the Underwriter being involved in a
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contravention) of the Corporations Act or other applicable law or any liability of the Underwriter in connection with the

Capital Raising:

* the Issuers (or any of their subsidiaries) alters their share capital or their constitution in any material respect;

* change (or announcement of any change) of any law or regulation;

= any of the material contracts summarised in this Offer Document are terminated, rescinded, altered or amended in &
material respect without the consent of the Underwriters or any such contract is found to be void or voidable;

» the outbreak or major escalation of hostilities involving certain nations or a major act of terrorism or civil or political
unrest;

= non-compliance with legal requirements by either Issuer;

= a director of either Issuer being charged with certain offences, disqualified from managing a corporation under certain
provisions of the Corporations Act or having public action commenced against them by a regulatory body;

* there is a material suspension or limitation of trading in all securities quoted on ASX, NYSE or LSE for one business or
trading day; and

= a representation or warranty made by an Issuer is untrue or incorrect.

Termination by an Underwriter of its obligations under the Undenwriting Agreement does not automatically terminate the
obligations of the other Undenwriter. The non-terminating Underwriter may terminate its obligations also or assume the
cbligations of the terminating Underwriter.

The Underwriting Agreement contains custemary and usual warranties and undertakings given by the Issuers. The Underwriting
Agreement will provide that the Issuers will pay underwriting fees o each Underwriter of 19 of the Underwritten Amount.

In addition, the Issuers will be required to pay various reasonable incidental costs and out-of-pocket expenses of
the Underwriters. In the event that an Underwriter's obligations are terminated or if this Offer does not proceed, an
Underwriter would be entitled to be paid its reasconable cut-of-pecket expenses incurred.

The Issuers also jointly and severally indemnify each Underwriter and their related parties against all losses suffered by, or
claims made against, the Underwriters or their related parties in connection with the Underwriters’ appointment as underwriter.
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The following parties have given and have not, before the lodgment of this Offer Document with ASIC, withdrawn their
written consents to be named in this Offer Document:

* KPMG Transaction Services (Australia) Pty Limited as the Investigating Accountant in relation to the Capital Raising;

* Mallesons Stephen Jagues as legal adviser to the Issuers in relation to the Capital Raising;

* Greenwoods & Freehills Pty Limited as the taxation adviser in relation to the Capital Raising;

* Australand Wholesale Investments Limited as responsible entity of AWPT3;

* FPD Savills (NSW) Pty Limited as independent valuers;

= UBS AG, Australia Branch, as joint Underwriter to the Capital Raising;

* Goldman Sachs JBWere Pty Ltg, as joint Underwriter to the Capital Raising;

* PricewaterhouseCoopers Securities Ltd as investigating accountant in respect of AWPT3 historical and forecast
financial information; and

» Computershare Investor Services Pty Limited as Registry fo the Capital Raising.

H83 Cosseni o U isclugion of statemeants

The following parties have given, and have not withdrawn before the lodgment of this Offer Document with ASIC, their
consent o the inclusion of the statements noted next to their names:

* KPMG Transaction Services (Australia) Pty Limited - to the inclusion of the Investigating Accountant’s report in this

Offer Document, in the form and context in which it appears in Section 4, and to the references to that report in
Section 3;

* Greenwoods & Freehills Pty Limited - to the inclusion of the Taxation Report in this Offer Decument, in the form and
context in which it appears in Section 4;

* Australand Wholesale Investments Limited - to the inclusion of the financial information regarding AWFT3 in this Offer
Document, in the form and context in which it appears in Section 3;

* FPDSavills (NSW) Pty Limited- to the inclusion of its summary property valuation report in Section 4 of this Offer
Document and to the statements made in Section 2 and 3 of this Offer Document based on statements made in that
report;

* PricewaterhouseCoopers Securities Ltd - to the references made in the Investigating Accountant’s report in this Offer
Document, in the form and context in which they appear in Section 4; and

» Computershare Investor Services Pty Limited as Registry to the Capital Raising.
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Each person referred to in this Section 6.6:

* does not make, or purpert to make, any statement in this Offer Document other than those statements referred to
above in Section 6.6.2 next to that persen’s name, as consented to by that person; and

* {0 the maximum extent permitted by law, expressly disclaims and takes no responsibility for any part of this Offer
Document other than as described in this Section 6.6 with that person’s consent.

ASIC has granted or indicated its intention to grant the following medifications and exemptions relevant to the Capital

Raising:

(a) modification of section B01GA(1){a) of the Corporations Act (as modified by ASIC Class Order 98/52) to enable
New Stapled Securities (not taken up by Securityholders under the Entitlement Offer) to be issued to bona fide
underwriters or sub-underwriters pursuant to an Underwriting Agreement (the terms of which are included in this
Offer Document) and to third parties pursuant to the offer contained in this Offer Document; and

(b) an exemption from section B0TFC(1)(d) of the Corporations Act to enable New Stapled Securities to be issued under
the Entitlement Offer substantially in accordance with the timetable submitted to ASIC; and

(c) a modification of item 10 of section 611 of the Corporations Act so as to enable New Stapled Securities to be issued
to Qualifying Securityholders in accordance with the terms of the Entitlement Offer.

$.8  ABN WAIVERS

ASX has indicated that it will grant waivers from the following Listing Rules and give the following confirmations in

relation to the Capital Raising:

(a) waivers from Listing Rules 7.1 and 10.11 to the extent necessary to permit the issue of New Stapled Securities
under the Entitlement Offer, without Securityholder approval, subject to the following conditions:

* there is a record date for the Entitlement Offer;

= on or before the Record Date, Qualifying Institutional Securityholders may be offered a number of Units at least
equal to their pro rata allocation of the Entitlement Offer,

* New Stapled Securities not taken up by Qualifying Institutional Securityholders in the Institutional Entitlement Offer
are offered to other Qualifying Institutional Securityholders, institutional investors who are not Securityholders and
selected licensed brokers (who may in turn grant allocations to their clients) on or before the Record Date;

* Qualifying Institutional Securityholders who sell down their holdings before the Record Date have their pro rata
allocations reduced accordingly;

= all Qualifying Retall Securityholders are offered a number of New Stapled Securities at least equal to their pro
rata allocation of the Entitlement Offer unless Listing Rule 7.7.1 would permit the holder not to be included in the
Entitlement Offer;

= all New Stapled Securities offered under the Entitlement Offer are offered at the same price and entitlement; and

* related parties do not participate in the Entitlement Offer beyond their pro rata entitiement, unless pursuant to bona
fide underwriting arrangements, the terms of which are summarised in this Offer Document;

(b) a waiver from Listing Rule 7.40 to allow non-compliance with the timetable in clause 4 of appendix 7A on the basis that
the timetable for the Entitlement Offer as set out in this Offer Document is acceptable to the ASX;

(c) the waivers also allow the Issuers to ignore changes in the security holdings which oceur after the announcement of the
trading halt in Australand Property Group Stapled Securities on 29 April 2004 (other than registrations of transactions
which were effected through SEATS before the announcement). Transactions ignored pursuant to these waivers are not to
be considered in determining Securityholders’ holdings as at 7.00pm (Sydney time) on the Record Date, for the purposes
of the Entitlement Offer and references to Securityholders and security holdings are to be read accordingly; and

(d) the waivers also provide that, in respect of securityholdings registered in the name of a nominee:

* the nominee will be treated as a separate Securityholder in respect of Stapled Securities held for each of one or
more Qual ifying Institutional Securityholders and Qualifying Retail Securityholders (and accordingly, may receive
both the Institutional Entitement Offers and Retail Entitlement Offers); and

» offers by Qualifying Institutional Securityholders will be treated as being made to the nominee, even where made
directly to the institution for whom it holds; and

(e) a waiver from Listing Rule 3.20 to the extent necessary to permit the Australand Property Group to give the market
less than seven business days notice of the proposed Record Date for the Entitlement Offer on condition that the
timetable is acceptable to ASX.

S8 COMPLAINY HANDLUING PROUEDURES
If you have a complaint about the Responsible Entity in connection with Australand Property Trust, then you can:

— contact the Company Secretary of Australand Property Group on +61 2 9767 2000; and

— if your complaint is not satisfactorily resolved, please refer the matter in writing to the Complaints Handling Officer,
Australand Property Limited, Level 3, 1C Homebush Bay Drive, Rhodes NSW 2138.
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Where a complaint remains unresolved (e.g. where a remedy is not offered or not instigated or where a remedy offered
is not accepted by the complainant), the complaint may fall within the terms of reference of Australand Property Trust's
External Complaints Scheme, the Financial Industry Complaints Scheme (*FICS”). Complainants in this category will be
sent details of how to contact FICS, an independent external complaints handling body approved for this purpose by
ASIC.

Where a complainant has referred a complaint to FICS, the Complaints Handling Officer shall comply with the procedures
set out in terms of reference of the Financial Services Complaints Resolution Scheme as amended from time to time.
Once referred and once relevant time periods to settle the complaint have expired, FICS will work with the complainant
and the Responsible Entity to seek a mutually acceptable resclution of the complaint.

To contact FICS Unitholders should telephone their offices on 1300 780 808 or write to them at PO Box 5789, Collins
Street West, Melbourne VIC 8007,
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The costs of the Capital Raising to the date of this Offer Document are approximately $3.2 million. Set out below are the
interests of experts and advisers named in this Offer Document to the date of this Offer Document in relation to the Capital
Raising. The Underwriters are entitled to receive the fees and reimbursement of expenses referred to in Section 6.5.

() (Mallesons Stephen Jagues): Australand Property Group will pay Mallesons Stephen Jagues in its capacity as legal
aaviser in relation to the Capital Raising and the Acquisition Proposal approximately $520,000;

(b) (KPMG Transaction Services (Australia) Pty Limited): Australand Property Group will pay KPMG Transaction Services
(Australia) Pty Limited in its capacity as Investigating Accountant approximately $150,000;

(c) (Greenwoods & Freehills Pty Limited): Australand Property Group will pay Greenwoods & Freehills Pty Limited in its
capacity as independent tax adviser approximately $10,000; and

(d) (FPDSavills (NSW) Pty Limited): Australand Property Group will pay FPDSavills (NSW) Pty Limited approximately
$30,000.

2T PN RTINSV TR RER
1T MSCILDRURE QOF INTERERTY

%

Except as set out below or otherwise disclosed in this Offer Document, ne Director or person named in this Offer

Document as performing a function in a professional, advisory or other capacity in connection with the preparation or

distribution of this Offer Document holds at the time of lodgment of this Offer Document with ASIC, or has held in the

two years before lodgment of this Offer Document with ASIC, any interest in:

(a) the formation or promotion of Australand Property Group;

(b) the Capital Raising;

(c) any property acquired, or proposed to be acquired by the Issuers in connection with the formation or promotion of the
Issuers or the Capital raising; or

(d) for agreeing to act as a Director.

The following Directors currently have an interest held either directly or indirectly in Stapled Securities and Options and
will be entitled to participate in the Entitlement Offer on the same basis as the Qualifying Securityholders:

Mr J G Service, AO Deputy Chairman 200,000 37,500
Mr B P Crotty, Managing Director 63,120 400,000
Mr W J Beerworth 3,391 50,000
Lt Gen (Ret'd} W Choo NIL 50,000
Mr | F Hutchinson 20,160 37,500

As at the date of this Offer Document, each of Mr W J Beerworth and Mr | F Hutchinson are each entitled to receive
payment of $11,000 in connection with their involvement on the due diligence committee for the Capital Raising.

B8

CEETGEY ARRANGEMENTS

o
F

-

A custedy agreement will be entered inte between AWIL and a third party custodian in relation to AWPT3. The custody
agreement will appoint a custodian to hold the AWPT3 assets on the responsible entity's behalf. The assets of AWPT3
comprise 100% of the units in each controlled sub-trust of AWPT3 and title o real estate assets held by AWIL in its
capacity as responsible entity of AWFT3. In dealing with the assets of each trust, the custodian will act in accordance
with the proper instructions of the responsible entity. The terms of the custody agreement will satisfy the specific
requirements of ASIC policy.

843 NRECTORR CONBENT T LQNGME

Each Directer has given, and not withdrawn, their consent to the ledgment of this Offer Document with ASIC.

ARRTRMANG PHGRERYTY JHOUEY PRODUCT DISCLOSURE STATEMENT AND PROSPECTUS
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2003 APG Offer Document

Acguisition Proposal

APG Combined Forecast
APG Combined Pro Forma
APG Standalone Forecast
Applicant

Application

Application Form

Application Monies
Application Price
APT Coenstitution
ASIC

ASTC

ASTC Settlement Rules
ASX

Attached Securities

Australand

Australand Constitution
Australand Property Group
Australand Property Limited

Australand Property Trust

AWIL

AWPT

AWPT2

AWPT3

AWPT3 Information Memoerandum
AWPT3 Unitholders

AWPT3 Units

AWFT4

AWFTH

Board

Capital Raising

Capitaland

CHESS

CHESS Approved Securities
CHESS Rules

DEFINITION

the Australand Preperty Group Product Disclosure Statement and Prospectus
dated 28 October 2003

the proposed acquisition by Australand Property Trust of the AWPT3 Units

the forecast prepared on the basis set out in Section 3.1.2(b}

has the meaning as set out in Section 3.1.3

the forecast prepared on the basis set out in Section 3.1.2(=)

persons who submit valid Application Forms pursuant to this Offer Document

an application to subscribe for New Stapled Securities under this Offer Document

the application form accompanying this Offer Document to be used by persons
wishing o subscribe for New Stapled Securities pursuant to the offers set out in
this Offer Document

monies received from Qualifying Securityholders in respect of their Applications
$1.83 for each New Stapled Security

the constitution of Australand Property Trust, as amended from time to time
Australian Securities and Investment Commission

ASX Settlement and Transfer Corporation Pty Limited (ABN 49 008 504 532) as
the Securities Clearing House under the Corporations Act

the settiement rules of ASTC

where the reference is to the entity itself, Australian Stock Exchange Limited
(ABN 98 008 624 691) and where the reference is to listing, delisting, quotation,

trading, dealing or settlement, the market operated by Australian Stock Exchange
Limited (ABN 98 008 624 691)

additional securities which may be stapled to Shares in the future

Australand Holdings Limited (ABN 12 008 443 696) and where the context
requires in Sections 3 and 4, Australand and its controlled entities

the constitution of Australand, as amended from time to time
Australand and Australand Property Trust

Australand Property Limited (ABN 90 105 4682 137) the Responsible Entity of
Australand Property Trust

Australand Property Trust (ARSN 106 680 424) constituted by deed dated 14
September 2003 and supplemental deed dated 23 September 2003 and where
the context requires in Sections 3 and 4, Australand Property Trust and its
controlled entities

Australand Wholesale Investments Limited (ABN 12 086 673 092), the
responsible entity of AWPT3

Australand Wholesale Property Trust (ARSN 099 698 012)

Australand Wholesale Property Trust No. 2 (ARSN 101 660 253)
Australand Wholesale Property Trust No. 3 (ARSN 103 893 312)
information memorandum of AWPT3 dated 12 November 2002

a holder of an AWPT3 Unit

units in AWPT3 not held by Australand at the date of this Offer Document
Australand Wholesale Property Trust No.4 (ARSN 108 264 413)
Australand Wholesale Property Trust No.b (ARSN 108 2564 771)

the boards of the Issuers

the issue of 16.4 million New Stapled Securities under the Institutional Placement
raising approximately $25.1 million together with the issue of approximately 100.3
million New Stapled Securities under the Entitlement Offer raising approximately

$163.4 million, totalling approximately $188.5 million

CapitalLand Limited (SG1J27887962)

the Clearing House Electronic Subregister System operated by ASTC
securities approved by ASTC in accordance with section 3 of the CHESS Rules
the ASTC Settlement Rules

ARRTRMANG PHGRERYTY JHOUEY PRODUCT DISCLOSURE STATEMENT AND PROSPECTUS



Corporations Act
CFI

Directors
Directors’ Forecast

Distribution

DPS
DRFP

Entitlement

Entitlement Offer

EPS

Final Allocation

Final Alletment Date
FICS
Foreign Securityholder

Gearing
GST

Initial Allocation

Initial Allotment Date
Institutional Entitlement Offer

Institutional Placement

Investigating Accountant

Interest bearing debt
o tangible assets

Issuers

Listing Rules

New Stapled Security
NTA

Offer Document

Option

Qualifying Institutional Securityholder

Qualifying Retail Securityhelder
Qualifying Securityholder

Record Date

§ ¥

Ty,

SEFINITION

gos

the last day on which Application Forms will be accepted, being 5.00pm (Sydney
time) on 25 May 2004 (subject to variation)

Corporations Act 2001 (Cth)

consumer price index

the directors of Australand and the directors of the Responsible Entity
the APG Standalone Forecast and the APG Combined Forecast

a dividend paid by Australand and a distribution paid by the Responsible Entity to
Securityholders

Distribution per Stapled Security

the distribution reinvestment plan pursuant to which a Securityholder may elect
to reinvest any Distribution payable o that Securityhelder in additional Stapled
Securities

the entitlement to 1 New Stapled Security for every 7 Stapled Securities held on
the Recerd Date by persons with registered addresses in Australia, Singapore or
New Zealand

the non-renounceable entitlement offer of approximately 100.3 million New
Stapled Securities to Qualifying Securityholders pursuant to this Offer Document
earnings per Stapled Security

the allocation of New Stapled Securities to Qualifying Securityholders who apply
for New Stapled Securities under the Entitlement Offer later than 12 May 2004
4 June 2004

Financial Industry Complaints Scheme

a Securityholder whose registered address is in any jurisdiction other than
Australia, Singapore or New Zealand

total liabilities less cash to gross tangible assets less cash
Goods and Services Tax

the allocation of Mew Stapled Securities to Qualifying Securityholders who apply
by 12 May 2004 for New Stapled Securities under the Entitlement Offer

17 May 2004
as described in Section 1.3.1

the offer of 15.4 million New Stapled Securities at the Application Price raising
approximately $26.1 million

KPMG Transaction Services (Australia) Pty Limited (ABN 65 003 891 718)

Interest bearing debt less cash to gross tangible assets less cash

Australand and Australand Property Limited (as trustee and responsible entity of
Australand Property Trust)

the official Listing Rules of the ASX

a new Stapled Security o be issued pursuant to this Offer Document
net tangible assets

this Product Disclosure Statement and Prospectus

an option to take up unissued Stapled Securities

a Qualifying Securityholder who is a professional investor, sophisticated investor
or other wholesale client within the meaning of the Corporations Act and receives
(directly or through a nominee) an Institutional Entittement Offer (whether or not
they accept that offer)

a Qualifying Securityhelder who is not a Qualifying Institutional Securityholder

Securityholders as at 7.00pm (Sydney time) on the Record Date with registered
addresses in Australia, Singapere or New Zealand except to the extent that
persens who would otherwise be Securityholders hold Stapled Securities pursuant
to post ex date transactions and the Issuers elect to ignore these transactions

in determining Securityholders and securityholdings in the manner described in
Section 6.8(b)

7.00pm (Sydney time) 4 May 2004
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Registry or Registrar
Responsible Entity

Retail Entitlement Offer
Securityholder

SGX

Share

Shareholder

Stapled Security
Stapling Deed
Underwriters

Underwriting Agreement

Underwritten Amount
Unit
Unitholder

DEFINITHON

Computershare Investor Services Pty Limited (ABN 48 078 279 277}
Australand Property Limited being the responsible entity of Australand Property
Trust and the holder of Australian Financial Services Licence Number 231130
as described in Section 1.2.2

a holder of Stapled Securities

Singapoere Stock Exchange

an ordinary share in the capital of Australand

a holder of a Share

a Unit and a Share

the deed between the Issuers to effect the stapling of Units and Shares

UBS AG, Australia Branch and Goldman Sachs JBWere Pty Ltd

the agreement between the Issuers and the Underwriters to underwrite the
Underwritten Amount summarised in Section 6.5

approximately $94 million
a unit in Australand Property Trust

a holder of a Unit

ARRTRMANG PHGRERYTY JHOUEY PRODUCT DISCLOSURE STATEMENT AND PROSPECTUS
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FINANTIAL §
Dated 15 March 2004
KPMG Transaction Services

KPMG Transaction Services (Australia) Pty Limited ABN 65 003 891 718 (“KPMG Transaction Services” or
we” or fus” or fours” as appropriate) has been engaged to issue general financial product advice in the form of a
report to be provided to you.

In the above C\rcumstances we are required to issue o you, as a retail client, a Financial Services Guide (“FSG™). This
FSG is designed 1o help retall clients make a decision as to their use of the general financial product advice and to
ensure that we comply with our obligations as financial services licensees.

This FSG includes information about:

* who we are and how we can be contacted;

= the services we are authorised 1o provide under our Australian Financial Services Licence, Licence No: 245402;

* remuneration that we and/or our staff and any associates receive in connection with the general financial product
advice;

= any relevant associations or relationships we have; and

= our complaints handling procedures and how you may access them.

inancial sorvioss wa are licensed {s provids

We held an Australian Financial Services Licence which authorises us to previde financial product advice in relation to:
* interests in managed investment schemes (excluding investor directed portfolio services); and

* securities (such as shares and debentures).

We provide financial product advice by virtue of an engagement to issue a repert in connection with a financial product
of another person. Our report will include a description of the circumstances of our engagement and identify the person
who has engaged us. You will not have engaged us directly but will be provided with a copy of the repert as a retail client
because of your connection to the matters in respect of which we have been engaged fo report.

Any report we provide is provided on our own behalf as a financial services licensee authorised to provide the financial
product advice contained in the report.

Ganers! Financias! Frodact Sdvies

In our report we provide genera\ financial product advice, not personal financial product advice, because it has been
prepared without taking into account your persenal objectives, financial situation or needs.

You should consider the appropriateness of this general advice having regard to your own objectives, financial situation
and needs before you act on the advice. Where the advice relates to the acquisition or possible acguisition of a financial
preduct, you should also obtain a product disclosure statement relating to the preduct and consider that statement before
making any decision about whether to acquire the product.

Bane d
We charge fees for prowdmg reports These fees will be agreed with, and paid by, the person who engages us to provide
the report. Fees will be agreed on either a fixed fee or time cost basis.

ARRTRMANG PHGRERYTY JHOUEY PRODUCT DISCLOSURE STATEMENT AND PROSPECTUS
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Except for the fees referred to above, neither KPMG Transaction Services, nor ary of its directors, employees or related
entities, receive any pecuniary benefit or other benefit, directly or indirectly, for or in connection with the provision of the
report.

N T L L e T T I L T TR U RS O aranFEITN ER IS Sreas QAN IAN Dy a s e &
Romunaration or oy baoofils raceivad Dy our ampinyoas

All our employees receive a salary. Our employees are eligible for bonuses based on overall productivity but not directly in
connection with any engagement for the provision of a report.

DhenSeanea ba
SNEATANS

We do not pay commissions or provide any other benefits to any person for referring customers o us in connection with
the reports that we are licensed to provide.

Asgopiatives and relalinashins

Through a variety of corporate and trust structures KPMG Transaction Services is ultimately whoelly owned by and
operates as part of KPMG’s Australian professional advisory and accounting practice. Our directors may be pariners in
KPMG’s Australian partnership.

From time to time KPMG Transaction Services or KPMG and/or KPMG related entities may provide professional services,
including audit, tax and financial advisory services, to financial product issuers in the ordinary course of its business.

As the holder of an Australian Financial Services Licence, we are required to have a system for handling complaints from
persons to whom we provide financial product advice. All complaints must be in writing, addressed to The Complaints
Officer, KPMG Transaction Services, PO Box HE7, Australia Square, Sydney NSW 1213,

When we receive a written complaint we will record the complaint, acknowledge receipt of the complaint within 15 days
and investigate the issues raised. As soon as practical, and not more than 45 days after receiving the written complaint,
we will advise the complainant in writing of our determination.

Ratarral & Exiarnal Digpate Rogolution Sehamwe

A complainant not satisfied with the outcome of the above process, or our determination, has the right to refer the matter
to the Financial Industry Complaints Service Limited (*FICS"). FICS is an independent company that has been established
to provide free advice and assistance to consumers to help in resolving complaints relating to the financial services
industry.

Further details about FICS are available at the FICS website www.fics.asn.au or by contacting them directly via the details
set out below.

Financial Industry Complaints Service Limited
PO Box 579

Collins Street West

Melbourne VIC 8007

Toll free: 1300 78 08 08
Facsimile: (03) 9621 2291

Contact details
You may centact us using the details set cut at the top of our letterhead on page 1 of this FSG.
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